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ABOUT US

Buildworks is an infrastructure holding company.

Buildworks is extensively exposed to Power and operates under its wholly owned subsidiary Consolidated 

Power Projects (Pty) Limited (“Conco”). Buildworks has a lesser exposure to Heavy Building Materials, 

through its subsidiaries West End Claybrick (Pty) Limited and Drift Supersand (Pty) Limited. Conco is the 

leading provider in South Africa and the African continent of turnkey solutions in the power and electrical 

industry. Its core business is high voltage substations, high voltage overhead lines, advanced protection and 

automation schemes as well as specialising in green energy projects especially wind farms. Drift Supersand 

is a Gauteng based supplier of aggregrates (sand, gravel and stone) to various sectors in the construction 

industry including road construction. West End is a manufacturer of a range of Claybricks and roof-tiles that 

distributes its products throughout Gauteng, North West Province and the Free State.

To create long-term sustainable value for shareholders in a socially 
responsible manner with products and services used to build the world 
around us

VISION AND MISSION

For more information, visit our website at 
www.buildworksgroup.co.za
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Power – Conco

Building materials – West End Claybrick

Building materials – Drift Supersand

86%

9%

5%

Revenue

   2009 
 2009 2008 Pro-forma*

Group summary (Rand thousands)   
Revenue  745 323   201 344   1 184 266 
EBITDA  103 852   82 946   158 597 
Core earnings  62 119   49 879   93 200 
   
Fully diluted core headline earnings per share (cents)  7,59   11,22   8,20 
   
Operating margin (EBITDA on revenue) (%) 13,93 41,20 13,39
EBITDA interest cover (times)  22   13   13 

Total assets (R’000)  1 540 387   445 761 
Operating cashflow (R’000)  155 753   39 532
Net asset value per share – 31 August (cents per share)  81,47   56,67 
Cash on hand per share – 31 August (cents per share) 23,49 8,99
  
Debt:equity ratio (%) 27 43

*  An unqualified reporting accountants’ report was issued on the pro-forma financial information of the group for the year ended 

31 August 2009. The pro-forma financial information was prepared on the basis that the acquisition of Conco had been effective 

1 September 2008. This pro-forma financial information has been prepared by management in an effort to provide a meaningful 

understanding of the group’s results and is the responsibility of the directors of Buildworks. By its nature, the pro-forma financial 

information may not fairly reflect the financial results of the group after the acquisition of Conco.
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Power – Conco

Building materials – West End Claybrick

Building materials – Drift Supersand

79%

1%

20%

Pro-forma – EBITDA

 Audited Audited Pro-forma
 31 August  31 August 31 August
 2009 2008 2009
Figures in Rand thousand R’000 R’000 R’000

Revenue   
Heavy building materials  162 512   201 344   162 512 

West End Claybrick  63 322   97 137   63 322      
Drift Supersand  99 190   104 207   99 190 
   
Power   582 811  –   1 021 754 
Corporate –  – –

Total   745 323   201 344   1 184 266

EBITDA    
Heavy building materials  34 517   87 383   34 517 

West End Claybrick  2 163   51 594   2 163 
Drift Supersand  32 353   35 789   32 353 
   
Power   73 724  –  128 470 
Corporate (4 389)  (4 437)  (4 389)

Total  103 852   82 946   158 597

SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS



 With the acquisition of 

Consolidated Power, Buildworks 

becomes the largest turnkey 

developer of high voltage electric 

substations in sub-Saharan Africa

for African utilities, South African municipalities, industry 
and mining houses. The group has operated successfully 
in 14 African countries and strategically targets 50% of 
revenue to be generated from outside South Africa.

This acquisition allows Buildworks to benefi t from 
electrifi cation of the African continent where only 
25% of the population have access to electricity. The 
governance on the continent has improved dramatically 
and we are hopeful that the demand by China and India 
for commodities on the African continent will accelerate 
the growth in power generation and electrifi cation. In 
South Africa the power shortage is well documented and 
implementation of the plans to reduce the backlog will 
have a positive impact on Buildworks. 

The group should continue to benefi t from the continued 
capital formation in South Africa as the products supplied 
are an integral component of any basic building structure. 

FINANCIAL RESULTS
We are pleased to report on the successful acquisition, 
implementation and integration of Conco. On an 
annualised basis over 86% of all Buildworks’ revenue and 
81% of Buildworks’ earnings before interest, taxation, 
depreciation and amortisation (“EBITDA”) are now directly 
attributable to the power and electrifi cation sector. 

The acquisition of Conco allowed Buildworks to deliver 
satisfactory results for the year ended 31 August 2009 
in extremely tough economic conditions. It is the view of 
the board of directors that the pro-forma core headline 
earnings and the pro-forma fully diluted core headline 
earnings per share provide a meaningful understanding of 
the results for the period. Pro-forma core headline earnings 
for the year ended 31 August 2009 were R93,2 million 
which is an increase of 87% over the previous year. 

Using the pro-forma core headline earnings and the pro-
forma fully diluted earnings for the additional equity to 
be issued in terms of the Conco earn out, pro-forma fully 
diluted core headline earnings per share are 8,20 cents 
per share, a decline of 27% over the previous year.

Headline earnings per share are 7,14 cents and basic 
earnings per share are 5,24 cents which is a decline of 35% 
and 52% respectively over the previous year. The decline 
in headline earnings per share is due to the amortisation 
charge raised against the intangible assets, increased 
number of shares in issue and the underperformance of 
West End Claybrick (“West End”) in our Building Materials 
Division.

 JOINT CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
AND CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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DEAR SHAREHOLDER
It is with great pleasure that we present our second annual 
report as a listed entity and we extend our welcome 
as shareholders to the Conco Vendors and to PAIP II, 
the private equity fund managed by Kingdom Zephyr. 
These holdings arose on our successful acquisition of 
Consolidated Power Projects (Pty) Limited (”Conco”).

We are extremely excited with this wonderful acquisition 
and welcome Bernard Berelowitz and his team to the 
group. They share our view that the continent is in the 
forefront of an enormous electrifi cation drive and we hope 
to enjoy these benefi ts. 

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW
Buildworks with this acquisition becomes the largest 
turnkey developer of high voltage electric substations 
in sub-Saharan Africa. These substations are developed 
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Trading profi ts refl ect an excellent contribution from 
Conco who performed exceptionally well. The Building 
Materials Division recorded lower trading profi ts despite a 
solid, steady performance at Drift Supersand (“Drift”) and 
an operating loss at West End. 

Cash generated by operations remained strong at 
R190 million as working capital management improved 
across the group, and remains an area of critical focus in 
an environment of heightened debtor delinquencies. 

DETAILED FINANCIAL OVERVIEW
Revenue grew 270% to R745 million (2008: R201 million). 
This is as a result of the acquisition of Conco. 

The trading margin was down at 28,3% (2008: 53,9%), 
predominantly due to the lower margins of Conco and a 
decline in the gross profi t margin at West End.

Our balance sheet remains strong and is appropriately 
capitalised. Total debt, excluding a vendor liability of 
R50 million, increased to R153 million (2008: R115 million) 
driven by the completion of the fully automated roof-tile 
plant. Overall the group’s debt-to-equity ratio declined to 
27% which is a signifi cant improvement on the 43% in the 
previous year. Interest cover as measured against EBITDA 
was 22 times (2008: 12 times). This refl ects adequate 
borrowing capacity. Net fi nance charges decreased 32% 
to R4,8 million due to the interest earned on the substantial 
cash on hand. This off-set the effect of higher borrowings 
which were incurred as a result of the construction of the 
roof-tile plant. 

The year-end cash position was R220 million 
(2008: R42 million). The increase in cash on hand is a 
result of stringent working capital management and the 
cash acquired as part of the Conco acquisition.

Positive goodwill of R93,3 million arose on the acquisition 
of West End. The subsequent deterioration in trading 
conditions in the residential and commercial building 
sector resulted in an impairment of goodwill of R13 million 
being written off in the current year.

DIVISIONAL OVERVIEW
Conco
The division had a good year. Revenue was R1 021 billion 
on a pro-forma basis and EBITDA rose to R128 million 
on a pro-forma basis. The conditions were volatile during 
the year as major utilities, municipalities and mines 
re-evaluated their priorities and their order placement. 
Conco has over the last fi ve years experienced 35% 
growth in its order book. This growth rate has tapered off 
as worsening global economic conditions set in. 

Businesses focused on improving working capital 
management, which resulted in a signifi cant improvement 
in cash generation. Capital expenditure was strictly 
controlled. However Conco continued to recruit highly 
skilled personnel to assist with project execution.

Looking ahead, gradual improvements in trading 
conditions are expected as capital markets start to ease. 
It is evident from the number of enquiries that substantial 
demand exists for our product and services but the 
execution of new orders is restrained by our clients’ 
access to capital.

Conco managed to maintain its forward order book at 
R1,2 billion. This represents approximately one year’s 
work. Embedded in the order book is a slightly lower 
margin. This is a function of our upfront pricing, geographic 
and project mix.

Building Materials
The division had a tough year. Revenue of R162 million 
represented a decline of 19% over the previous year. 
EBITDA was R34,5 million declining by 60% from the 
previous year.

Rigorous working capital management and early action to 
reduce asset levels in line with lower sales had a positive 
impact on accounts receivables but we were unable to 
signifi cantly reduce the stock holding of fi nished goods 
as market demand reduced at a similar rate to production.

West End delivered an operating loss for the second 
half of the year ended 31 August 2009 after a breakeven 
performance in the fi rst six months. This was a function 
of extremely weak market conditions and the introduction 
of the fully automated roof-tile plant in May of 2009. 
The expected lift in volumes in the second half failed to 
materialise and pricing remained weak. Actions taken 
to expand the sales footprint failed to deliver any short-
term benefi ts. 

Drift also experienced a signifi cant decline in residential 
and commercial sectors and the actions taken to replace 
the volumes in the roads sector went some way to cushion 
the blow. Volumes were down 13% but our overall revenue 
was only down by 5%. The decline was mitigated to some 
extent at the business level with tight cost controls and 
productivity improvements. The net effect of the actions 
at Drift resulted in an EBITDA reduction of 9,6% from the 
previous year. 

PROSPECTS
The challenging economic conditions created by the 
fallout from the global fi nancial crisis appear to be abating. 
However, the speed of recovery remains uncertain. 
Our balance sheet remains strong, our gearing remains 



BUILDWORKS ANNUAL REPORT 20096

JOINT CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
AND CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
(continued)

conservative and we have the capacity to seek out further 
strategic opportunities.

The benefi ts of improved cash fl ow generation and a 
lower interest rate environment are expected to lower 
fi nance charges going forward.

The group’s strategic positioning in the provision 
of infrastructure to the African power market, with 
the majority of the clients being South African or 
African utilities, provides a fairly robust buffer against 
the volatility of the market place. The imbalance of 
substantially higher demand levels for power generation 
and transmission against the current supply will remain 
for decades but the constraints to growth remain a 
funding capacity for projects and shortage of skills to 
execute the projects.

To deliver growth in Conco the skills base will be 
strengthened by investing in additional senior management 
capacity, business development and project execution 
skills. This is an investment which may cost in the short 
term but is expected to yield long-term sustainable 
growth. The Conco order book continues to sustain its 
level at R1,2 billion and we are hopeful that as capital 
markets ease funding for utilities, municipalities, mines 
and industries will expand at a signifi cant rate. 
 
The Building Materials Division should benefi t from 
higher levels of business and consumer confi dence, as 
well as the lower interest rate environment. We do not 
anticipate a signifi cant improvement in trading conditions 
for the year ahead. The division is currently operating a 
tightly controlled expense base and we are hopeful that 
expansion in sales and distribution capacity will increase 
our market share. It is anticipated that the 2010 FIFA 
World Cup will have a negative impact on trading during 
the event.

The signifi cant expansion of the roads is expected to 
continue for the remainder of the fi nancial year and should 
offer a buffer against the weak residential consumer 
market. 

MIGRATION TO THE JSE MAIN BOARD AND 
CHANGE OF NAME
Buildworks intended to migrate to the JSE Main Board 
during May 2009. It is still the intention to effect this 
migration by the end of the fi rst quarter of 2010.

With so large a portion of our revenue arising from 
the power, electrical and infrastructural development 
Buildworks intends to change its name to refl ect the 
change from the focus on building and materials to a 
name that refl ects our increased exposure to infrastructure 
development.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Buildworks is committed to the promotion of good 
Corporate Governance and recognised the need for 
a Board Charter as recommended by King Code and 
accordingly adopted a charter. During the year the 
board also established the remuneration and nomination 
committee and the sustainability committee.

The next clear challenge is to ensure that we have 
suffi cient independent non-executive directors.

BLACK ECONOMIC EMPOWERMENT
Buildworks is grateful to the long-term plan it has with 
regard to Black Economic Empowerment (“BEE”). There 
were no internally funded schemes reliant on dividends, 
interest and hurdles and the BEE partners in Buildworks 
could continue to hold their equity without liquidity 
pressure. 

According to the Code of the Broad-Based Black 
Economic Empowerment Act of 2003, dealing with the 
measurement of ownership, Buildworks has an effective 
BEE shareholding of 37,2%.

The group has lagged in its implementation of some of the 
other aspects of the code and key drives are in place to 
improve in all aspects.

DIVIDEND POLICY
The dividend policy will be reviewed periodically taking 
into account prevailing circumstances and future cash 
requirements. At present, all earnings generated by the 
company will be utilised to fund future growth.

Accordingly, no dividend has been recommended for 
the year.

APPRECIATION
The directors and management of Buildworks wish to 
thank all staff for their focused efforts and loyalty over 
these challenging times. We also thank our customers, 
business partners, advisors, suppliers and our 
shareholders for their ongoing support and faith in the 
group.

By order of the board

Herman Mashaba Raoul Gamsu
Chairman Chief Executive Offi cer



BUILDWORKS ANNUAL REPORT 2009 7

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

COUNTRIES – and clients database

CONTINENT GROWTH – Africa in perspective

• A growing demand for electricity in the sub-Saharan 

African region

• Insuffi cient generation capacities

• Only 24% of Africans are connected to power, 

compared to an average of 40% in other emerging 

markets

• SSA’s total electricity generation was 1,8% of the 

world’s total in 2007

Angola

Botswana

Democratic Republic of the Congo

Ghana

Madagascar

Mauritius

Mozambique

Namibia

Nigeria

South Africa

Sudan

Tanzania

Zambia

Zimbabwe

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

• Years of under investment in generation capabilities

• Failed planning and maintenance programmes 

• Strong economies

• An additional 270GW is needed in the next 25 years

Base of operations

African operations – 

operating or operating 

historically

Not operating yet

Source: Frost and Sullivan
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BUILDWORKS STRUCTURE
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BUILDWORKS GROUP

100% 100%

100% 100% 100% 100%

100%
100%

99,95%

Regal Brick
Drift Supersand

Mining
Consolidated Power 

Projects & Investments
(Incorporated in 

Botswana)

Consolidated Power 
Projects DRC

Blend Of 
Perfection

DRIFT 
SUPERSAND

CONSOLIDATED 
POWER 

PROJECTS
WEST END

CONSOLIDATED 
POWER 

MAINTENANCE
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2007

JUL

NOV

AUG

FEB

MAY

2008

2009

Listed

Announced Conco deal

Achieved listing forecast

Closed Conco deal

Roof tile plant operational

MILESTONES



BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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EXECUTIVE
Raoul Gamsu – Chief Executive Offi cer – 
BAcc CA(SA)
Raoul is the founder of the group. In 1990 he qualifi ed with 
a BAcc from the University of the Witwatersrand. He is a 
CA(SA), as well as a Member of the National Executive of 
the South African Board of Jewish Education.

In 1999, Raoul departed Bidvest as managing director of 
Silveray Stationery Transvaal after the highly successful 
turnaround of the business after its acquisition by 
Bidvest. Prior to that, he led the turnaround of Jonrod 
Manufacturing, also part of the Bidvest Group.

In 1999 he joined Rebhold Group Limited, where he 
fulfi lled various roles including the rationalisation of the 
group’s food interests and the successful negotiation and 
formation of the R15 billion Total Facilities Management 
Company business with Telkom.

In 2003 he was appointed Chief Operating Offi cer of 
Mvelaphanda Group Limited (created through the merger 
of Rebserve and Mvelaphanda Holdings), and was 
responsible for the integration and management of a 
diverse range of businesses. The businesses employed in 
excess of 32 000 people with an annual operating profi t 
of approximately R250 million.

In May 2007 he was responsible for leading the consortium 
which created and subsequently listed Buildworks.

Ivor Klitzner – Executive Director 
(Finance and Strategy) – BComm CA(SA)
Ivor graduated from the University of Cape Town and 
completed his articles with Ernst & Young in 1993. 
He was fi nancial director at Hallmark Hemdon (Pty) 
Limited, before leaving them in 2000 to join M&IC 
Distributors (Pty) Limited, a subsidiary of Brandcorp 
Holdings Limited, as fi nancial director. Ivor was 
instrumental in assisting with the listing of Buildworks in 
2007.

Bernard Berelowitz – Executive Director and CEO of 
Consolidated Power Projects
Bernard’s career started in 1973 as a young engineer with 
Hubert Davies Construction (Pty) Limited (later Cullinan 
Holdings Limited) after receiving his National Diploma 
in Electrical Engineering. In 1981 he was a company 
appointed executive as well as Divisional Manager, 
Substations. Bernard helped grow the substation division 

from R1 million per annum to an approximate R20 million 
per annum in the period before he left.

Consolidated Power Projects (Pty) Limited (“Conco”) 
was founded in October 1986 with Bernard at its 
helm. Conco is a construction company specialising in 
turnkey projects involving design, supply, construction, 
testing and commissioning of high voltage substations 
and power lines. In addition it has divisions in protection, 
automation and windfarms. Conco’s green legacy began 
with the building of the fi rst grid-connected windfarm in 
the Southern Hemisphere in Crookwell, Australia, and 
thereafter they were awarded the contract for the Darling 
windfarm in the Western Cape, South Africa. 

Conco has built a formidable reputation as an electrical 
infrastructure development company, driven by qualifi ed 
engineers, with an impressive footprint in South Africa 
and Africa. In the 23 years under Bernard’s leadership 
Conco has grown to a company employing more than 
320 permanent employees and achieved an impressive 
turnover of R1 billion per annum.

NON-EXECUTIVE
Herman Mashaba – Non-Executive Chairperson of 
the board 
Herman was unable to complete his academic studies 
when, in 1980, in his second year of studies towards 
a BAdmin degree at the University of the North, the 
university was shut down due to political unrest. After 
employment at Spar and Motani Industries, he decided to 
begin an entrepreneurial career.

Herman sold different products including insurance, fi re 
detection systems, linen, crockery and dinner services on 
a commission basis for almost two years. His break came 
late in 1983 when, after selling hair-care products for a 
Johannesburg based company, he decided to start his 
own hair-care product manufacturing business.

In February 1985 the fi rst bottle of Black Like Me products 
hit the South African market. He started the business with 
four partners, including his wife, with a R30 000 loan, in a 
200m2 SBDC unit in Ga-Rankuwa, in the then homeland 
of Bophuthatswana. The business enjoyed massive 
growth from inception and moved to a factory in 
Mabopane by 1990. He bought the business back from 
Colgate Palmolive in 1999 after selling it in 1997. In 2001 
Black Like Me products were launched in the United 
Kingdom.
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In 2002 he decided to join the BEE arena and formed 

Leswikeng Minerals & Energy (Proprietary) Limited.

In January 2004 Herman resigned as CEO of Black Like 

Me, and sold 49,9% shareholding to Amka Products in 

2005. In 2004 he was elected as chairman of the Cosmetic 

Industry in South Africa to guide the industry to develop 

BEE initiatives.

To date Herman, through his numerous business 

ventures, has invested in various sectors including 

mining, construction, exhibitions, real estate, security, 

aviation and Information Technology. Herman was a non-

executive director at Edcon at the time of the successful 

private equity buyout in 2007.

Herman’s awards received to date include:

• New Nation/Engen Businessman of the Year (1994);

•  Marketing Person of the Year by the Institute of 

Marketing Management (1994);

• SABC/Tribute Achievers Award (2001);

•  Award for Entrepreneurial Leadership by Henley 

Management College (2003);

•  Free Market Award by the Free Market Foundation 

President’s Award by the Black Management Forum 

(2004); and

•  Honorary Award by UNISA for Outstanding 

Entrepreneur and Leader in the Business Environment 

(2005).

Noel Machingawuta – Non-Executive Director – 
PhD (Process Metallurgy) BSc (Engineering) (Hons) 
(Metallurgy and Materials) MAP (Wits)
Noel has over 17 years’ experience in the mining and 

metallurgical industry.

He holds a PhD: Process Metallurgy (1988) and BSc (Eng) 

Hons (1984) from Imperial College, London University, and 

since 2003, sits on a number of the boards of Leswikeng 

and Phatsima, including:

•  Chief Operating Offi cer for Benefi ciation and Executive 

Director of Leswikeng Minerals and Energy (“LME”), 

where he is responsible for minerals benefi ciation and 

driving new business development;

•  Established and manages the operations of Leswikeng 

UG2 Minerals which produces chromite concentrate 

from benefi ciating platinum fl otation tailings;

•  A director of Mogale Alloys (Proprietary) Limited, 

a company producing ferroalloys for the stainless 

steel industry, where he is responsible for technical 
management of operations; and

•  A director of Drillcorp Africa, an exploration drilling 
company, with 30 operating drill rigs in South Africa, 
where he is responsible for new business development.

From 1996 to 2003 he held various positions at Gencor/
BHP Billiton, including Manager: Chromium R&D and 
Consulting Metallurgist. He led several projects involving 
submerged-arc smelting and dc-arc smelting of various 
ores to support Billiton’s chrome, manganese and nickel 
operating divisions.

Noel has also been Chief Engineer of the Pyrometallurgy 
Division at Mintek, a Research Scientist for Royal Dutch/
Shell based in Anhem, The Netherlands, and a Research 
Fellow at National Physical Laboratory, Teddington, 
England. He has previously served on the Council of the 
South African Institute of Mining and Metallurgy (2003 – 
2007).

Anthony Dixon – Independent Non-Executive Director 
– CA(SA) FinstD
During a 29-year career with Coopers & Lybrand 
(PricewaterhouseCoopers), Tony Dixon became Regional 
Chairman – KwaZulu-Natal and a long-serving member of 
the fi rm’s National Executive and Governing Board.

From 1995 to today Tony has held a number of executive 
and non-executive directorships on a number of major 
listed and unlisted boards including one of South Africa’s 
largest short-term insurance companies – Guardian 
National Insurance Company before its merger with 
Santam. These directorships included the positions of 
Managing Director, Financial Director and Chairman. 
He has considerable audit committee experience.

Tony was the Executive Director of the Institute of Directors 
for the four years from 2004 to 2007. He is acknowledged 
as an expert in corporate governance and has been 
instrumental in establishing the Institute of Directors in 
South Africa as the recognised custodians of corporate 
governance in the country. For a number of years he 
provided the secretariat role to the King Committee of 
which he is currently a member.

Panos Voutyritsas – Non-Executive Director
Panos is Partner and Co-Chief Investment Offi cer of 
Kingdom Zephyr Africa Management Company, a pan-
African private equity company sponsored by Kingdom 
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Holding, the private investment vehicle of HRH Prince 

Alwaleed of Saudi Arabia, and Zephyr Management L.P., 

a New York based asset manager. He has completed 

a number of private equity investments in Africa since 

Kingdom Zephyr’s inception in 2004, and helped raise 

two funds with commitments exceeding US$500 million.

From 1999 until 2002, Panos worked in investment 

banking and leveraged fi nance at Salomon Smith Barney 

in New York as an Analyst and Associate. In 2002 he 

moved to Europe as an investment principal at Soros Real 

Estate Partners, Greece and South Eastern Europe.

Panos is a Greek national, and has a BS in Operations 

Research & Industrial Engineering from Cornell University.

Andrea Geisser – Non-Executive Director 
Andrea is a Senior Advisor at Zephyr Management, L.P.. 

He has more than 30 years’ experience in private equity, 

investing in companies with the goal of improving their 

overall performance. During his career, Andrea has 

been on the boards of directors, executive committees, 

compensation committees, audit committees and 

strategic planning committees of numerous private and 

public companies operating in the consumer goods, 

retail, distribution and light manufacturing sectors.

Andrea started working with Zephyr in 2007 and actively 

participates in all investment decisions and other key 

strategic decisions regarding the Zephyr private equity 

funds operating in Africa and India as well as opportunities 

in Mexico.

From 1995 to 2006, Andrea was Managing Director, 

Partner and Co-Founder of Fenway Partners, a 

US$1,9 billion private equity fi rm dedicated to investing 

in leading middle market companies with the aim of 

achieving above average returns by focusing on operating 

improvements and long-term strategy. Controlling 

investments in roughly 15 companies were made by 

the funds during Andrea’s tenure at Fenway, including 

Delimex and Harry Winston. Andrea helped develop a staff 

of qualifi ed executives and propel the fi rm from a start-up 

to a well regarded private equity fi rm. He was involved in 

all aspects of the fi rm’s activities, focusing mostly on the 

monitoring of investee companies. 

Currently, Andrea is on the board and chairs the audit 

committee of IRobot, a NASDAQ US$300 million company 

that manufactures and distributes robots for military and 

consumer use (trade name Roomba).

Andrea has a BA in Economics from Bocconi University 

(Milan Italy) and a PMD from Harvard University. 

Nathan A Mintah – Non-Executive Director

Nathan joined Kingdom Zephyr Africa Management 

Company as a Partner in 2007 and is based in 

Johannesburg. He has over 18 years’ investment banking 

and operating experience. 

Prior to joining Kingdom Zephyr, he was Managing 

Director of the retained advisor to the HSBC Kingdom 

Africa investment joint venture. Previously he was a 

Director in the Global Investment Banking division at 

HSBC and also served as Co-Head of Project Finance at 

HSBC Bank plc (Johannesburg). Before that Nathan was 

Head of ABB Project and Trade Finance (Sub-Saharan 

Africa) with ABB Asea Brown Boveri in Johannesburg. 

He also worked previously in investment banking at 

Lehman Brothers in New York and in the management 

information systems division for Morgan Stanley & 

Company, New York. Nathan holds an MBA from Yale 

University, School of Management and a BS degree 

(Mathematics) from Eckerd College (USA). 

His investment banking experience includes M&A advisory, 

corporate and project fi nance advisory in the telecoms, 

energy, fi nancial services and resources sectors. He is 

a board observer of Barcelona headquartered Mixta 

Africa SA, a low-cost housing developer focused solely 

on Africa. 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
(continued)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

The company is fully committed to the principles of the 

Code of Corporate Practices and Conduct set out in the 

King Code.

The directors recognise the need to conduct the enterprise 

with integrity and in accordance with generally acceptable 

corporate practices. This includes timely, relevant and 

meaningful reporting to its Buildworks shareholders and 

other stakeholders providing a proper and objective 

perspective of the company and its activities.

The directors have, accordingly, established mechanisms 

and policies appropriate to the company’s business in 

keeping with its commitment to best practices in Corporate 

Governance in order to refl ect its commitment to the 

King Code. The board reviews these from time to time.

The formal steps taken by the directors are summarised 

below:

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The board consists of three executive directors and 

six non-executive directors of whom one is considered 

independent. The board ensures that there is an 

appropriate balance of power and authority on the board, 

such that no one individual or block of individuals can 

dominate the board’s decision taking. The non-executive 

directors are individuals of calibre, credibility and have 

the necessary skills and experience to bring judgment to 

bear independent of management, on issues of strategy, 

performance, resources, transformation, diversity and 

employment equity, standards of conduct and evaluation 

of performance.

The information needs of the board are reviewed annually 

and directors have unrestricted access to all company 

information, records, documents and property to enable 

them to discharge their responsibilities suffi ciently. 

Effi cient and timely methods of informing and briefi ng 

board members prior to board meetings have been 

developed and in this regard steps have been taken to 

identify and monitor key risk areas, key performance 

areas and non-fi nancial aspects relevant to Buildworks. 

In this context, the directors are afforded information in 

respect of key performance indicators, variance reports 

and industry trends.

The chairperson is a non-executive director, whose role is 

separate from the executive directors.

The board appraises the chairperson’s performance on an 

annual or such other basis as the board may determine. 

The chairperson, or a sub-committee appointed by the 

board, appraises the performance of the executive 

directors, at least annually.

All directors are subject to retirement by rotation and 

re-election by Buildworks ordinary shareholders at least 

once every three years in accordance with the articles.

Board meetings are held at least quarterly, with additional 

meetings convened when circumstances necessitate. The 

board sets the strategic objectives of the company and 

determines investment and performance criteria as well 

as being responsible for the proper management, control, 

compliance and ethical behaviour of the businesses 

under its direction.

The board makes a self-evaluation of itself from time to 

time.

APPOINTMENT OF DIRECTORS
Board appointments are conducted in a formal and 

transparent manner by the board as a whole, free from 

any dominance of any one particular shareholder.

The meetings at which appointment of directors is 

discussed and/or confi rmed are properly minuted.

This policy also bears reference to the need for the annual 

appraisal of the performance of the board and individual 

directors.

New directors shall hold offi ce until the next annual 

general meeting, at which they shall retire and become 

available for re-election. A brief curriculum vitae of each 

director standing for election or re-election at the annual 

general meeting shall accompany the notice of annual 

general meeting contained in the annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The board has established an audit committee all 

members of which are non-executive directors, of whom 

one is the chairperson and one is the Designated Advisor. 

The majority of the members are fi nancially literate. The 

committee’s primary objective is to provide the board with 

additional assurance regarding the effi cacy and reliability 

of the fi nancial information used by the directors, to assist 
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them in the discharge of their duties. The committee 

provides satisfaction to the board that adequate and 

appropriate fi nancial and operating controls are in place; 

that signifi cant business, fi nancial and other risks have 

been identifi ed and are being suitably managed; and 

that satisfactory standards of governance, reporting and 

compliance are in operation.

Within this context, the board is responsible for the group’s 

systems of internal fi nancial and operational control. The 

executive directors are charged with the responsibility 

of determining the adequacy, extent and operation of 

these systems. Comprehensive reviews and testing of the 

effectiveness of the internal control systems in operation 

are performed by external practitioners, who report to the 

audit committee.

The audit committee meets at least three times a year. 

Executives and managers responsible for fi nance, the 

internal auditors and the external auditors will be in 

attendance.

The audit committee set in place principles for engaging 

for non-audit services with the appointed external auditors 

or any other practising fi rm of auditors, after consideration 

of the following:

•  The essence of the work to be performed may not be 

of a nature that any reasonable and informed observer 

would construe as being detrimental to good corporate 

governance or in confl ict with that normally undertaken 

by the accountancy profession;

•  The nature of the work being performed will not affect 

the independence of the appointed external auditors in 

undertaking the normal audit assignments;

•  The work being done may not confl ict with any 

requirement of IFRS or principles of good corporate 

governance;

•  Consideration to the operational structure, internal 

standards and processes that were adopted by the 

audit fi rm in order to ensure that audit independence is 

maintained in the event that such audit fi rm is engaged 

to perform accounting or other  p services to its client 

base. Specifi cally:

  –  The company may not appoint a fi rm of auditors 

to improve systems or processes where such 

fi rm of auditors will later be required to express 

a view as to the functionality or effectiveness of 

such systems or processes;

  –  The total fee earned by an audit fi rm for non-audit 
services in any fi nancial year of the company, 
expressed as a percentage of the total fee for 
audit services, may not exceed 35% without the 
approval of the board;

  –  A fi rm of auditors will not be engaged to perform 
any management functions (e.g. acting as 
curator) without the express prior approval of 
the board. A fi rm of auditors may be engaged to 
perform operational functions, including that of 
bookkeeping, when such fi rm of auditors are not 
the appointed external auditors of the company 
and work is being performed under management 
supervision.

The audit committee delegates the approval of the 
appointment of a fi rm of auditors for non-audit services to 
management when the cumulative total budgeted cost for 
an assignment or assignments does not exceed R50 000 
from the date of the last report-back of the use of the 
appointed external auditors or any other practising fi rm 
of auditors, to the audit committee. Management reports 
back on the use of the appointed external auditors or any 
other practising fi rm of auditors at meetings of the audit 
committee. The audit committee assesses on an annual 
basis the appropriateness of the expertise and experience 
of the fi nancial director and states to the shareholders that 
they have executed this responsibility and they believe 
that Ivor Klitzner possesses the appropriate expertise and 
experience to meet the rsponsibilities in that position.

Information relating to the use of non-audit services 
from the appointed external auditors of the company is  
disclosed in the notes to the annual fi nancial statements. 
Separate disclosure of the amounts paid to the appointed 
external auditors for non-audit services, as opposed to 
audit services, is made in the annual fi nancial statements.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Following the acquisition of Consolidated Power Projects 
and the placement of Buildworks shares with Pan African 
Investments II the remuneration committee was formed 
comprising non-executive directors H Mashaba, N Mintah 
and P Voutyritsas (committee chairman). 

It is the committee’s responsibility to determine the 
remuneration, incentive arrangements, profi t participation 
and benefi ts of the executive directors and executive 
management. The committee is responsible for ensuring 
that levels of remuneration are suffi cient to attract, retain 
and motivate executives of the calibre required for high-
level management as well as key personnel positions. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
(continued)
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It is also responsible for measuring the performance of 
the executive directors in discharging their functions and 
responsibilities.

Directors’ emoluments are set out in the directors’ report 
in the annual fi nancial statements.

INVESTMENTS
The board meets when necessary to consider acquisitions 
and sales of investments. 

DIRECTORS’ DEALINGS AND PROFESSIONAL 
ADVICE
The company operates a policy of prohibiting dealings 
by directors and certain other managers in periods 
immediately preceding the announcement of its interim 
and year-end fi nancial results, any period while the 
company is trading under cautionary announcement and 
at any other time deemed necessary by the board.

The board has established a procedure for directors, 
in furtherance of their duties, to take independent 
professional advice, if necessary, at the company’s 
expense. All directors have access to the advice 
and services of the company secretary.

THE COMPANY SECRETARY
The company secretary provides the board as a whole 
and directors individually with detailed guidance as to 
how their responsibilities should be properly discharged in 
the best interest of the company. The company secretary 
provides a central source of guidance and advice to the 
board, and within the company, on matters of ethics and 
good corporate governance. The company secretary is 
subjected to an annual evaluation by the board.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL 
CONTROLS
The objective of risk management is to identify, assess, 
manage and monitor the risks to which the business is 
exposed. This is a board responsibility.

Risks are assessed and appropriate insurance cover 
purchased for all material risks above pre-determined self-
insured limits. Levels of cover are re-assessed annually 
in light of claims experiences and events affecting the 
group, internally and externally.

COMMUNICATION
It is the policy of Buildworks to meet regularly with 
institutional shareholders and investment analysts, as 
well as to provide presentations on the company and its 
performance.

EMPLOYMENT EQUITY
Buildworks places particular emphasis on the development 
and training of its people, and will endeavour to ensure that 
employees are offered equal opportunity and appropriate 
participation.

ETHICS
Buildworks is committed to promoting the highest 
standards of ethical behaviour amongst all its employees 
and, to this extent a Code of Ethics for the company and 
its employees is to be adopted.

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
BBBEE and transformation
Buildworks has established a transformation and 
sustainability committee comprising non-executive 
directors N Mintah and N Machingawuta (committee 
chairman) and executive director I Klitzner.

The role of the committee is to assist the group to 
discharge its business sustainability responsibility with 
respect to the implementation of practices that are 
consistent with good corporate citizenship. 

BBBEE in the group is in excess of 37% and satisfi es 
Mining Charter requirements.

Environment
Buildworks recognises that its activities have an impact 
on the environment. Buildworks has adopted a strategy 
that strives to minimise this impact by regularly reviewing 
its activities and compliance with all relevant legislation.

Corporate social responsibility
As a participant in the SA economy, the company 
acknowledges its responsibility towards the community. 
Where appropriate there is participation in programmes 
aimed at education, training or the improvement of 
previously disadvantaged communities.

Health and safety
Buildworks acknowledges its responsibility to its 
employees and complies with applicable legislation 
regarding quality, safety, health and the environment. 
We aim to provide and maintain, as far as practicably 
possible, a working environment that is safe without 
material risk to the health of our employees. Where 
necessary we have committees and external consultants 

monitoring compliance.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

Directors’ board meetings
 17 November  5 February 25 May 20 August

 2008 2009 2009 2009

Raoul Gamsu (Chief Executive Offi cer) ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓ 

Ivor Klitzner (Financial Director) ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓ 

Herman Mashaba (Chairman) ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓ 

Noel Machingawuta (Non-Executive Director) ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓ 

Jannie Hooman (Executive Director)* ✓  ✓  n/a n/a

Anthony Dixon (Independent non-Executive Director) ✕ ✓ ✓  ✓ 

Panos Voutyritsas (Non-Executive Director)** n/a n/a ✓  ✓ 

Andrea Geisser (Non-Executive Director)** n/a n/a ✓**** ✓****

Nathan Mintah (Non-Executive Director)** n/a n/a ✓  ✓ 

Bernard Berelowitz (Executive Director)*** n/a n/a n/a ✓ 

*Resigned from board 30 April 2009   **Appointed 30 April 2009   ***Appointed 13 August 2009   ****Attended via tele-conference

Audit committee meetings
 11 September  7 November 24 March 25 May  18 August

 2008  2008 2009 2009 2009

Anthony Dixon (Independent 

non-executive director) chairman ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓

Noel Machingawuta 

(Non-executive director) ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓ 

Java Capital (Designated Advisor) ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓ 

Panos Voutyritsas 

(Non-executive director)** n/a n/a n/a n/a ✓ 

** Appointed to audit committee effective June 2009

(continued)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

REPORT ON THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
We have audited the annual fi nancial statements and group annual fi nancial statements of Buildworks Group Limited, 
which comprise the balance sheets as at 31 August 2009, and the income statements, statements of changes in equity 
and cash fl ow statements for the year then ended, and a summary of signifi cant accounting policies and other explanatory 
notes, and the directors’ report, as set out on pages 23 to 78, together with the shareholders analysis on pages 17 and 18.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these annual fi nancial statements 
in accordance with ‘International Financial Reporting Standards’, and in the manner required by the Companies Act of 
South Africa, 1973. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to 
the preparation and fair presentation of annual fi nancial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are 
reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these annual fi nancial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the annual fi nancial statements are 
free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the annual 
fi nancial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the annual fi nancial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
annual fi nancial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by directors, as well 
as evaluating the overall presentation of the annual fi nancial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION
In our opinion, the annual fi nancial statements and group annual fi nancial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the fi nancial position of Buildworks Group Limited as at 31 August 2009, and its fi nancial performance and its cash fl ows 
for the year then ended in accordance with ‘International Financial Reporting Standards’, and in the manner required by 
the Companies Act of South Africa, 1973.

PKF (Jhb) Inc.
Registered Auditor
Registration Number 1994/001166/21
Johannesburg
Per: S Kock
Chartered Accountant (SA) 

17 November 2009



DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES AND APPROVAL

The directors are required by the Companies Act of South Africa, 1973, to maintain adequate accounting records and are 
responsible for the content and integrity of the annual fi nancial statements and group annual fi nancial statements and 
related fi nancial information included in this report. It is their responsibility to ensure that the annual fi nancial statements 
and group annual fi nancial statements fairly present the state of affairs of the group as at the end of the fi nancial year and 
the results of its operations and cash fl ows for the period then ended, in conformity with ‘International Financial Reporting 
Standards’. The external auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion on the annual fi nancial statements and 
group annual fi nancial statements.

The annual fi nancial statements and group annual fi nancial statements are prepared in accordance with ‘International 
Financial Reporting Standards’ and are based upon appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and supported 
by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal fi nancial control established 
by the group and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the directors 
to meet these responsibilities, the board of directors sets standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of 
error or loss in a cost effective manner. The standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly 
defi ned framework, effective accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level 
of risk. These controls are monitored throughout the group and all employees are required to maintain the highest ethical 
standards in ensuring the group’s business is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above 
reproach. The focus of risk management in the group is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known 
forms of risk across the group. While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the group endeavours to minimise it 
by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within 
predetermined procedures and constraints.

The directors are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management, that the system of 
internal control provides reasonable assurance that the fi nancial records may be relied on for the preparation of the annual 
fi nancial statements and group annual fi nancial statements. However, any system of internal fi nancial control can provide 
only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The directors have reviewed the group’s cash fl ow forecast for the year to 31 August 2010 and, in the light of this review 
and the current fi nancial position, they are satisfi ed that the group has or has access to adequate resources to continue 
in operational existence for the foreseeable future.

The external auditors are responsible for independently reviewing and reporting on the group’s annual fi nancial statements. 
The annual fi nancial statements and group annual fi nancial statements have been examined by the group’s external 
auditors and their report is presented on page 20.

The annual fi nancial statements and group annual fi nancial statements set out on pages 23 to 78, which have been 
prepared on the going concern basis, were approved by the board of directors on 17 November 2009 and were signed 
on its behalf by:

IM Klitzner RD Gamsu
Financial Director Chief Executive Offi cer
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DECLARATION BY THE COMPANY SECRETARY

For the year ended 31 August 2009, the company had lodged with the Registrar of Companies all such returns as are 
required of a public company in terms of Section 268 (a)(d) of the Companies Act, 61 of 1973, as amended, and that all 
such returns are true, correct and up to date in respect of the fi nancial year reported upon.

Sandra Saunders – Attorney
Company Secretary

16 November 2009



DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The directors submit their annual report, which forms part of the annual fi nancial statements of the company and the 
group for the year ended 31 August 2009.

REVIEW OF ACTIVITIES
Main business and operations
The group is engaged in the establishment of electrical infrastructure in South Africa and the rest of Africa and the supply 
of heavy building materials to the construction industry.

The operating results and state of affairs of the company and the group are fully set out in the attached annual fi nancial 
statements and do not in our opinion require any further comment.

Net profi t of the group was R37,4 million (2008: R49,1 million), after taxation of R19,6 million (2008: R19,2 million).

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS
The directors are not aware of any signifi cant post balance sheet events.

AUTHORISED AND ISSUED SHARE CAPITAL
The number of ordinary shares in issue at 31 August 2009 was 936,4 million (2008: 470 million).

Ordinary shares were issued as follows:
–  466,4 million shares were issued in Buildworks during the year of which 30,0 million are unlisted. 150 million of the 

466,4 million shares were placed with the vendors of Consolidated Power Projects (Proprietary) Limited (“Conco”), the 
balance of 316,4 million were issued for cash at 70 cents per share.

Change to issued share capital

Issued share capital at 31/08/2008 470 000 000
316 410 287 shares issued for cash in February 2009 at 70 cents per share 316 410 287
150 000 000 shares issued to the vendors of Conco in February 2009 at 70 cents per share 150 000 000

Issued share capital at 31/08/2009 936 410 287

The unissued ordinary shares are under the control of the directors until the next annual general meeting.

BORROWING LIMITATIONS
In terms of the Articles of Association of the company, the directors may exercise all the powers of the company to borrow 
money, as they consider appropriate. The borrowing powers of the directors are unlimited.

DIVIDENDS
No dividends were declared or paid to shareholders during the year.

ACQUISITION OF BUSINESSES
Effective 18 February 2009 the group acquired Conco.

100% of Conco was acquired for a total investment of R497,5 million. Assets of R374,5 million and liabilities of 
R241 million were acquired. The transaction was funded through the initial issue of 150 million Buildworks shares to 
the vendors of Conco at 70 cents per share and a cash payment of R202,5 million. The balance of the purchase will be 
settled during April 2010 in terms of the acquisition agreement, once the fi nal warranted profi ts have been calculated. 
If all warranted profi ts are met, the balance will be settled through the issue of an additional 200 million shares at 70 cents 
per share and a cash payment of R50 million.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

DIRECTORS
The Articles of Association require that one third of directors retire and offer themselves for re-election at every annual 
general meeting.

Details of the directors’ shareholding are disclosed in the analysis of shareholding report.

Details of the directors’ emoluments are disclosed in note 23 to the annual fi nancial statements.

The directors of the company during the year and to the date of this report are as follows:

Name  Changes

RD Gamsu  Executive (Chief Executive Offi cer)
J Hooman  Executive Resigned 30 April 2009
IM Klitzner Executive (Financial Director)
HSP Mashaba Non-Executive (Chairperson of the board)
NC Machingawuta (Zimbabwean) Non-Executive
AD Dixon Independent – Non-Executive
P Voutyritsas (Greek)  Non-Executive Appointed 30 April 2009
N Mintah (American)  Non-Executive Appointed 30 April 2009
A Geisser (American)  Non-Executive Appointed 30 April 2009
B Berelowitz Executive Appointed 13 August 2009

SECRETARY
The secretary of the company is Sandra Saunders BA LLB (Wits), Dip Corp. Gov. (RAU).

INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES
Name of subsidiary Net income/(loss) after tax (R’000)

West End Claybrick (Proprietary) Limited  (9 912)
Drift Supersand (Proprietary) Limited 11 827
Consolidated Power Projects (Proprietary) Limited six months 47 380

Details of the company’s investment in subsidiaries are set out in note 6.

SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS
The following special resolutions were passed by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting on 30 April 2009 and the 
General Meeting held on 12 November 2008 and registered by the Registrar of Companies during the reporting period:

1.  Authorisation for the increase of authorised ordinary share capital;
2.  Authorisation to repurchase company shares in terms of section 85 of the Companies Act in the event of the Vendors 

breaching any obligations under the Acquisition Agreement as a consequence of which the company perfects its 
pledge of Consideration Shares pledged by the Vendors in terms of the Acquisition Agreement;

3.  The ordinary share capital of Buildworks was increased from R0,01 million, comprising 1 000 million ordinary shares 
with a par value of R0,00001 each, to R0,02 million, comprising 2 000 million ordinary shares, with a par value of 
R0,00001 each, and that the Memorandum of Association of the company was amended accordingly;

4.  By way of a specifi c approval in terms of section 85(2) of the Companies Act, Act No. 61 of 1973 as amended 
(“the Act”), the Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited and the company’s Articles of Association, to approve the 
purchase of so many of the 30 million shares (“Pledged Shares”) in the issued capital of the company as the directors 
resolve in terms of clause 23.5 of the Acquisition Agreement, as read with Annexure L thereto, be purchased by the 
company, and/or any nominated subsidiaries if at any time during the Pledge provided for in the said clause 23.5, any 
amount owing by the Vendors under the Acquisition Agreement becomes due and payable, but is not paid on its due 
date in terms thereof, at a price determined pursuant to paragraph 1(c) of Annexure L to the Acquisition Agreement;

(continued)



DIRECTORS’ REPORT

5.  To cause any or all of the Pledged Shares which are the subject matter of an acquisition under paragraph I above, to 
be purchased as treasury stock, subject to compliance with the provisions of section 89 of the Act;

6.  Resolved that the authorised ordinary share capital of Buildworks be and is hereby decreased from R20 000, 
comprising 2 million ordinary shares each with a par value of R0,01 cents each, to R13 000, comprising 1,3 million 
ordinary shares each, with a par value of R0,01 cents each, and that the Memorandum of Association of the company 
be and is hereby amended accordingly;

7. Resolved that the following is substituted for article 13.2 of the company’s Articles of Association:
  “13.2 The directors shall have power at any time and from time to time to appoint any person as a director either to fi ll 

a casual vacancy or as an addition to the board, but so that the total number of directors shall not at any time exceed 
a maximum number of 11 directors. Subject to the provisions of article 16.2 any person appointed to fi ll a casual 
vacancy or as an addition to the board, shall retain offi ce only until the next following annual meeting of the company 
and shall then retire and be eligible for re-election.”

AUDITORS 
PKF (Jhb) Inc. will continue in offi ce in accordance with section 270(2) of the Companies Act.

The audit committee met fi ve times during the year and the internal and external auditors presented formal reports to the
committee and attended meetings by invitation. In accordance with section 270(1)(f) of the Companies Act, Act No. 61 of 
1973, as amended, the committee reports as follows:

• The scope, independence and objectivity of the external auditors was reviewed;

•  The audit fi rm PKF (Jhb) Inc., and audit partner S Kock, are, in the committee’s opinion, independent of the company, 
and have been proposed to the shareholders for approval to be the group’s auditor for the 2010 fi nancial year;

• On an ongoing basis, the committee reviews and approves the fees proposed by the external auditors;

•  The appointment of the external auditors complies with the Companies Act, as amended, and with all other legislation 
relating to the appointment of external auditors;

•  The nature and extent of non-audit services provided by the external auditors has been reviewed to ensure that the 
fees for such services do not become so signifi cant as to call into question their independence;

• The nature and extent of future non-audit services have been defi ned and preapproved; and

•  As at the date of this report, no complaints have been received relating to accounting practices and internal audit of 
the company or to the content or auditing of the company’s fi nancial statements, or to any related matter.
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BALANCE SHEETS

 Group Company

Figures in Rand thousand Notes 2009 2008 2009 2008

ASSETS     
Non-current assets 
Property, plant and equipment 3 277 966 196 735 273 394
Goodwill  4 482 595 102 423 – –
Intangible assets 5 51 055 20 656 – –
Investments in subsidiaries 6 – – 553 009 90 399
Financial assets 7 1 007 14 036 – –
Deferred tax 8 2 022 – – –

  814 645 333 850 553 282 90 793

Current assets     
Inventories 9 43 175 38 085 – –
Loans to group companies 10 – – 195 964 115 376
Current tax receivable  2 451 – – –
Amounts due from contract customers 11 395 168 – – –
Trade and other receivables 12 58 064 31 553 439 105
Cash and cash equivalents 13 226 890 42 274 4 901 25 440

  725 748 111 912 201 304 140 921

Total assets  1 540 393 445 762 754 586 231 714

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES     
Equity     
Share capital 14 676 396 217 307 676 396 217 307
Retained income  86 477 49 056 17 595 9 507

  762 873 266 363 693 991 226 814

Liabilities     
Non-current liabilities     
Financial liabilities 15 38 941 46 212 5 000 –
Instalment sale liabilities 16 78 970 42 770 – –
Deferred tax 8 27 418 11 417 20 20
Provisions 17 8 084 8 793 – 

  153 413 109 192 5 020 20

Current liabilities     
Financial liabilities 15 60 878 13 708 50 000 –
Current tax payable  52 286 22 431 2 635 3 844
Instalment sale liabilities 16 24 329 11 892 – –
Trade and other payables 18 187 092 22 176 2 940 1 036
Amounts received in advance  49 693 – – –
Amounts due to contract customers 11 242 909 – – –
Bank overdraft 13 6 920 – – –

  624 107 70 207 55 575 4 880

Total liabilities  777 520 179 399 60 595 4 900

Total equity and liabilities  1 540 393 445 762 754 586 231 714

Net asset value per share (cents)  81,47 56,67  

as at 31 August 2009



INCOME STATEMENTS

 Group Company

Figures in Rand thousand Notes 2009 2008 2009 2008

Revenue 20 745 323 201 344 – –
Cost of sales 21 (534 353) (92 899) – –

Gross profit  210 970 108 445 – –
Other income  1 974 325 2 500 2 400
Operating expenses  (151 148) (34 076) (7 016) (4 737)

Operating profit/(loss) 22 61 796 74 694 (4 516) (2 337)
Investment revenue 24 7 420 586 15 767 15 711
Finance costs 25 (12 196) (7 002) (19) (3)

Profit before taxation  57 020 68 278 11 232 13 371
Taxation 26 (19 599) (19 222) (3 144) (3 864)

Profit for the year  37 421 49 056 8 088 9 507

Earnings per share 28    
Basic (cents)  5,24 11,03  
Diluted (cents)  4,88 11,03  
Headline (cents)  7,14 11,04  
Fully diluted headline (cents)  6,22 11,04  
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended 31 August 2009

 Share  Share Total share Retained Total
Figures in Rand thousand capital premium capital income equity

Group     
Balance at 1 September 2007 – – – – –
Changes in equity     
Profit for the year – – – 49 056 49 056
Issue of shares 5 217 302 217 307 – 217 307

Total changes 5 217 302 217 307 49 056 266 363

Balance at 1 September 2008 5 217 302 217 307 49 056 266 363
Changes in equity     
Profit for the year – – – 37 421 37 421
Issue of shares 4 319 085 319 089 – 319 089
Shares to be issued 140 000 – 140 000 – 140 000

Total changes 140 004 319 085 459 089 37 421 496 510

Balance at 31 August 2009 140 009 536 387 676 396 86 477 762 873

Note 14 14 14  

Company     
Balance at 1 September 2007 – – – – –
Changes in equity     
Profit for the year – – – 9 507 9 507
Issue of shares 5 217 302 217 307 – 217 307

Total changes 5 217 302 217 307 9 507 226 814

Balance at 1 September 2008 5 217 302 217 307 9 507 226 814
Changes in equity     
Profit for the year – – – 8 088 8 088
Issue of shares 4 319 085 319 089 – 319 089
Shares to be issued 140 000 – 140 000 – 140 000

Total changes 140 004 319 085 459 089 8 088 467 177

Balance at 31 August 2009 140 009 536 387 676 396 17 595 693 991

Note 14 14 14  



CASH FLOW STATEMENTS
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 Group Company

Figures in Rand thousand Notes 2009 2008 2009 2008

Cash flows from operating activities     
Cash generated from/(used in) operations 29 191 909 45 948 (2 815) (1 354)
Interest received  7 420 586 15 767 15 711
Finance costs  (12 196) (7 002) (19) (3)
Tax paid 30 (31 380) – (4 353) –

Net cash flows from operating activities  155 753 39 532 8 580 14 354

Cash flows from investing activities     
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment  3 (79 302) (38 369) (8) (446)
Proceeds on sale of property, plant and equipment  118 5 676 – –
Acquisition of businesses 31 (156 561) 8 671 (202 182) (2)
Loans advanced to group companies  – – (43 016) (115 376)
Acquisition of financial assets  (477) (530) – –

Net cash flows from investing activities  (236 222) (24 552) (248 206) (115 824)

Cash flows from financing activities     
Proceeds on share issue 14 4 5 4 5
Proceeds on share issue – share premium 14 214 083 126 905 214 083 126 905
Increase in financial liabilities  5 000 – 5 000 –
Repayment of financial liabilities  (3 587) (91 566) – –
Movement in instalment sale liabilities  42 665 (8 050) – –

Net cash flows from financing activities  258 165 27 294 219 087 126 910

Total cash and cash equivalents movement for 
the year  177 696 42 274 (20 539) 25 440
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  42 274 – 25 440 –

Total cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 13 219 970 42 274 4 901 25 440
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1. PRESENTATION OF ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The annual fi nancial statements have been prepared in accordance with ‘International Financial Reporting Standards’, 
the Companies Act of South Africa, 1973 and the JSE Listings Requirements. The annual fi nancial statements have 
been prepared on the historical cost basis, unless otherwise stated in the policies, and incorporate the principal 
accounting policies set out below.

The accounting policies are consistent with the prior year.

 1.1 Signifi cant judgements
In preparing the annual fi nancial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the amounts represented in the annual fi nancial statements and related disclosures. Use of available 
information and the application of judgement is inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual results in the 
future could differ from these estimates which may be material to the annual fi nancial statements. Signifi cant 
judgements include:

Trade receivables
The group assesses its trade receivables for impairment at each balance sheet date. In determining whether 
an impairment loss should be recorded in the income statement, the group makes judgements as to whether 
there is observable data indicating a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash fl ows from a fi nancial 
asset.

The impairment for trade receivables is calculated on a portfolio basis, based on historical loss ratios, adjusted 
for national and industry-specifi c economic conditions and other indicators present at the reporting date that 
correlate with defaults on the portfolio. These annual loss ratios are applied to loan balances in the portfolio 
and scaled to the estimated loss emergence period.

Allowance for slow moving, damaged and obsolete stock
An allowance for stock to write stock down to the lower of cost or net realisable value. Management have 
made estimates of the selling price and direct cost to sell on certain inventory items. The write down is 
included in the operation profi t note.

Impairment testing
The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units and individual assets have been determined based on 
the higher of value-in-use calculations and fair values less costs to sell. These calculations require the use of 
estimates and assumptions. It is reasonably possible that the future cash fl ows may be different to the current 
projections which may then impact our estimations and may then require a material adjustment to the carrying 
value of goodwill, tangible and intangible assets.

The group reviews and tests the carrying value of assets when events or changes in circumstances suggest 
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. In addition, goodwill and intangible assets are tested on 
an annual basis for impairment. Assets are grouped at the lowest level for which identifi able cash fl ows are 
largely independent of cash fl ows of other assets and liabilities. If there are indications that impairment may 
have occurred, estimates are prepared of expected future cash fl ows for each group of assets. Expected 
future cash fl ows used to determine the value in use of goodwill, tangible and intangible assets are inherently 
uncertain and could materially change over time.

Provisions
Provisions were raised and management determined an estimate based on the information available. Additional 
disclosure of these estimates of provisions is included in note 17 – Provisions.

for the year ended 31 August 2009



ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1. PRESENTATION OF ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
 1.1 Signifi cant judgements (continued)

Taxation
Judgement is required in determining the provision for income taxes due to the complexity of legislation. 
There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during 
the ordinary course of business. The group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on 
estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the fi nal tax outcome of these matters is different 
from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax 
provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

The group recognises the net future tax benefi t related to deferred income tax assets to the extent that it 
is probable that the deductible temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future. Assessing the 
recoverability of deferred income tax assets requires the group to make signifi cant estimates related to 
expectations of future taxable income. Estimates of future taxable income are based on forecast cash fl ows 
from operations and the application of existing tax laws in each jurisdiction. To the extent that future cash 
fl ows and taxable income differ signifi cantly from estimates, the ability of the group to realise the net deferred 
tax assets recorded at the balance sheet date could be impacted.

 1.2 Property, plant and equipment
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when:

  • it is probable that future economic benefi ts associated with the item will fl ow to the company; and
  • the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire or construct an item of property, plant and equipment and 
costs incurred subsequently to add to, replace part of, or service it. If a replacement cost is recognised in 
the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment, the carrying amount of the replaced part is 
derecognised.

The initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which it is 
located is also included in the cost of property, plant and equipment.

Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.

Property, plant and equipment under construction is not depreciated during the construction phase.

Depreciation is provided on all property, plant and equipment, to write down the cost, less residual value, on 
a straight line basis over their useful lives as follows:

Item Average useful life
Land Indefi nite
Leasehold property Lease period
Plant and machinery
• Earthmoving equipment 6 years
• Plant and equipment 4 – 15 years
Furniture and fi xtures 3 – 5 years
Motor vehicles 4 – 5 years
Offi ce equipment 3 – 5 years
IT equipment 3 years
Computer software 1 year
Leasehold improvements 2 years
Property, plant and equipment under construction Not depreciated during construction phase

The residual value and the useful life of each asset are reviewed at each fi nancial period-end.
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1. PRESENTATION OF ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
 1.2 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a cost that is signifi cant in relation to the total cost 
of the item shall be depreciated separately.

The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in profi t or loss unless it is included in the carrying 
amount of another asset.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is included in profi t 
or loss when the item is derecognised. The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, 
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the 
carrying amount of the item.

 1.3 Goodwill
Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the business combination over the 
company’s interest of the net fair value of the identifi able assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities.

Subsequently goodwill is carried at cost less any accumulated impairment.

The excess of the company’s interest in the net fair value of the identifi able assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities over the cost of the business combination is immediately recognised in profi t or loss.

Internally generated goodwill is not recognised as an asset.

 1.4 Intangible assets
An intangible asset is recognised when:
•  it is probable that the expected future economic benefi ts that are attributable to the asset will fl ow to the 

entity; and
• the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost.

An intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal project) is 
recognised when:
• it is technically feasible to complete the asset so that it will be available for use or sale;
• there is an intention to complete and use or sell it;
• there is an ability to use or sell it;
• it will generate probable future economic benefi ts;
•  there are available technical, fi nancial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell 

the asset; and
• the expenditure attributable to the asset during its development can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.

An intangible asset is regarded as having an indefi nite useful life when, based on all relevant factors, there is 
no foreseeable limit to the period over which the asset is expected to generate net cash infl ows. Amortisation 
is not provided for these intangible assets. For all other intangible assets amortisation is provided on a straight 
line basis over their useful life.
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 1.4 Intangible assets (continued)

The amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible assets are reviewed every period-end.

Reassessing the useful life of an intangible asset with a defi nite useful life after it was classifi ed as indefi nite is 
an indicator that the asset may be impaired. As a result the asset is tested for impairment and the remaining 
carrying amount is amortised over its useful life.

Internally generated brands, mastheads, publishing titles, customer lists and items similar in substance are 
not recognised as intangible assets.

Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible assets, on a straight line basis other than for the order 
book which is done on a percentage of completion method, to their residual values as follows:

Item Useful life
Mining rights 20 years
Brand names 10 years
Order book Percentage of completion

 1.5 Investments in subsidiaries
Group annual fi nancial statements
The group annual fi nancial statements include those of the holding company and its subsidiaries. The results 
of the subsidiaries are included from the effective date of acquisition. Subsidiaries are de-consolidated on the 
date that the group ceases control.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries.

On acquisition the group recognises the subsidiary’s identifi able assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities at 
fair value, except for assets classifi ed as held-for-sale, which are recognised at fair value less costs to sell.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are 
eliminated on consolidation. Unrealised losses are also eliminated but considered an impairment indicator of 
the asset transferred.

The group applies a policy of treating transactions with minority interests as transactions with parties external 
to the group. Disposals to minority interests result in gains and losses for the group that are recorded in the 
income statement. Purchases from minority interests result in goodwill, being the difference between any 
consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary.

Company annual fi nancial statements
In the company’s separate annual fi nancial statements, investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less 
any accumulated impairment. The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of 
subsidiaries.

The cost of an investment in a subsidiary is the aggregate of:
•  the fair value, at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments 

issued by the company; plus
• any costs directly attributable to the purchase of the subsidiary.

An adjustment to the cost of a business combination contingent on future events is included in the cost of the 
combination if the adjustment is probable and can be measured reliably.
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1. PRESENTATION OF ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
 1.6 Financial instruments

Initial recognition and measurement
Financial instruments are recognised initially when the group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 
the instruments. Financial instruments are derecognised when the group ceases the control or the obligation 
relating to the fi nancial instrument.

The group classifi es fi nancial instruments, or their component parts, on initial recognition as a fi nancial asset, 
a fi nancial liability or an equity instrument in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement.

Impairment of fi nancial assets 
At each balance sheet date the group assesses all fi nancial assets, other than those at fair value through profi t 
or loss, to determine whether there is objective evidence that a fi nancial asset or group of fi nancial assets has 
been impaired.

For amounts due to the group, signifi cant fi nancial diffi culties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will 
enter bankruptcy and default of payments are all considered indicators of impairment.

Impairment losses are recognised in profi t or loss.

Impairment losses are reversed when an increase in the fi nancial asset’s recoverable amount can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, subject to the restriction that the 
carrying amount of the fi nancial asset at the date that the impairment is reversed shall not exceed what the 
carrying amount would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Reversals of impairment losses are recognised in profi t or loss except for equity investments classifi ed as 
available for sale.

Impairment losses are also not subsequently reversed for available-for-sale equity investments which are held 
at cost because fair value was not determinable.

Where fi nancial assets are impaired through use of an allowance account, the amount of the loss is recognised 
in profi t or loss within operating expenses. When such assets are written off, the write off is made against 
the relevant allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against 
operating expenses.

Loans to (from) group companies
These include loans to and from subsidiaries, and are recognised initially at fair value plus direct transaction 
costs.

Loans to group companies are classifi ed as loans and receivables which are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

Loans from group companies are classifi ed as fi nancial liabilities measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method.

Environmental Rehabilitation Trust Fund
These fi nancial assets are classifi ed as loans and receivables and measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method.
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 1.6 Financial instruments (continued)

Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair value plus transaction costs, and are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Appropriate allowances for estimated 
irrecoverable amounts are recognised in profi t or loss when there is objective evidence that the asset is 
impaired. Signifi cant fi nancial diffi culties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or 
fi nancial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments (more than 90 days overdue) are considered 
indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The allowance recognised is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash fl ows discounted at the 
effective interest rate computed at initial recognition.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount 
of the loss is recognised in the income statement within operating expenses. When a trade receivable is 
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account for trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of 
amounts previously written off are credited against operating expenses in the income statement.

Trade and other receivables are classifi ed as loans and receivables.

Trade and other payables
Trade payables are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, and are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid 
investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignifi cant risk of 
changes in value. These are initially and subsequently recorded at fair value.

Bank overdraft and borrowings
Bank overdrafts and borrowings are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost, using the effective interest rate method. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) 
and the settlement or redemption of borrowings is recognised over the term of the borrowings in accordance 
with the group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs.

 1.7 Tax
Current tax assets and liabilities
Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent unpaid, recognised as a liability. If the amount 
already paid in respect of current and prior periods exceeds the amount due for those periods, the excess is 
recognised as an asset.

Current tax liabilities (assets) for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be 
paid to (recovered from) the tax authorities, using the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.
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1. PRESENTATION OF ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
 1.7 Tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities
A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except to the extent that the deferred 
tax liability arises from:
• the initial recognition of goodwill; or
• the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which:
 –  is not a business combination; and
 –  at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profi t nor taxable profi t (tax loss).

A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences associated with investments in 
subsidiaries, except to the extent that both of the following conditions are satisfi ed:
• the parent, investor or venturer is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference; and
• it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profi t will be available against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised, unless the 
deferred tax asset arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that:
• is not a business combination; and
• at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profi t nor taxable profi t (tax loss).

A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible temporary differences arising from investments in 
subsidiaries, to the extent that it is probable that:
• the temporary difference will reverse in the foreseeable future; and
• taxable profi t will be available against which the temporary difference can be utilised.

A deferred tax asset is recognised for the carry forward of unused tax losses and unused STC credits to the 
extent that it is probable that future taxable profi t will be available against which the unused tax losses and 
unused STC credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when 
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Tax expenses
Current and deferred taxes are recognised as income or an expense and included in profi t or loss for the 
period, except to the extent that the tax arises from:
• a transaction or event which is recognised, in the same or a different period, directly in equity; or
• a business combination.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited directly to equity if the tax relates to items that are 
credited or charged, in the same or a different period, directly to equity.
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 1.8 Leases

A lease is classifi ed as a fi nance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership. A lease is classifi ed as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and 
rewards incidental to ownership.

Operating leases – lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight line basis over the lease term. 
The difference between the amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual payments are recognised 
as an operating lease asset or liability which is not discounted.

Any contingent rents are expensed in the period they are incurred.

 1.9 Instalment sale agreements
Instalment sale agreements are recognised as assets and liabilities in the balance sheet at amounts equal 
to the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. 
The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the balance sheet as a fi nance lease obligation. 
The assets are depreciated over the shorter of the their useful lives and the term of the instalment sale 
agreement.

The discount rate used in calculating the present value of the minimum instalment sale payments is the 
interest rate implicit in the agreement.

The instalment sale payments are apportioned between the fi nance charge and reduction of the outstanding 
liability. The fi nance charge is allocated to each period during the term of the agreement so as to produce a 
constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

 1.10 Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value on the fi rst-in, fi rst-out basis.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs 
of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

The cost of inventories comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in 
bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.

The cost of inventories is assigned using the fi rst-in, fi rst-out (“FIFO”) formula. The same cost formula is used 
for all inventories having a similar nature and use to the entity.

 1.11 Amounts due from contract customers
Where the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, contract revenue and costs are 
recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the contract activity at the balance sheet date, as 
measured by the proportion that contract costs incurred for work performed to date bear to the estimated 
total contract costs.

Variations in contract work, claims and incentive payments are included to the extent that they have been 
agreed with the customer.

When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised to 
the extent that contract costs incurred are recoverable. Contract costs are recognised as an expense in the 
period in which they are incurred.
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1. PRESENTATION OF ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
 1.11 Amounts due from contract customers (continued)

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised 
as an expense immediately.

Advance payments received are assessed on initial recognition to determine whether it is probable that it 
will be repaid in cash or another fi nancial asset. In this instance, the advance payment is classifi ed as a 
non-trading fi nancial liability that is carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. If it is 
probable that the advance payment will be repaid with goods or services, the liability is carried at historic cost.

 1.12 Impairment of assets
The group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. 
If any such indication exists, the group estimates the recoverable amount of the asset.

Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, the group also:
•  tests intangible assets with an indefi nite useful life or intangible assets not yet available for use for impairment 

annually by comparing its carrying amount with its recoverable amount. This impairment test is performed 
during the annual period and at the same time every period; and

• tests goodwill acquired in a business combination for impairment annually.

If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount is estimated for the individual 
asset. If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the recoverable amount 
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs is determined.

The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell 
and its value in use.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is 
reduced to its recoverable amount. That reduction is an impairment loss.

An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation or amortisation is recognised
immediately in profi t or loss.

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefi t from the synergies of the 
combination.

An impairment loss is recognised for cash-generating units if the recoverable amount of the unit is less than 
the carrying amount of the unit. The impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the assets 
of the unit in the following order:
• fi rst, to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit; and
• then, to the other assets of the unit, pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.

An entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment loss recognised in 
prior periods for assets other than goodwill may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication 
exists, the recoverable amounts of those assets are estimated.

The increased carrying amount of an asset other than goodwill attributable to a reversal of an impairment 
loss does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been 
recognised for the asset in prior periods.

A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at cost less accumulated depreciation or amortisation other 
than goodwill is recognised immediately in profi t or loss.
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 1.13 Share capital and equity

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting 
all of its liabilities.

 1.14 Employee benefi ts
Short-term employee benefi ts
The cost of short-term employee benefi ts (those payable within 12 months after the service is rendered, 
such as paid vacation leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefi ts such as medical care) are 
recognised in the period in which the service is rendered and are not discounted.

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render services 
that increase their entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the absence occurs.

The expected cost of profi t sharing and bonus payments is recognised as an expense when there is a legal or 
constructive obligation to make such payments as a result of past performance.

Defi ned contribution plans
Payments to defi ned contribution retirement benefi t plans are charged as an expense as they fall due.

Payments made to industry-managed (or state plans) retirement benefi t schemes are dealt with as defi ned 
contribution plans where the group’s obligation under the schemes is equivalent to those arising in a defi ned 
contribution retirement benefi t plan. The group has no further obligation once the payments due have been 
settled.

 1.15 Provisions and contingencies
Provisions are recognised when:
• the group has a present obligation as a result of a past event;
•  it is probable that an outfl ow of resources embodying economic benefi ts will be required to settle the 

obligation; and
• a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount of a provision is the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the 
obligation. The discount rate used is in line with the length of the particular mining operation. Discounting is 
only performed when the effects of time value of money are considered to be material.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another 
party, the reimbursement shall be recognised when, and only when, it is virtually certain that reimbursement 
will be received if the entity settles the obligation. The reimbursement shall be treated as a separate asset. The 
amount recognised for the reimbursement shall not exceed the amount of the provision.

Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

After their initial recognition contingent liabilities recognised in business combinations that are recognised 
separately are subsequently measured at the higher of:
• the amount that would be recognised as a provision; and
• the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation.
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 1.16 Revenue

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the following conditions have been satisfi ed:
• the group has transferred to the buyer the signifi cant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;
•  the group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership 

nor effective control over the goods sold;
• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
• it is probable that the economic benefi ts associated with the transaction will fl ow to the group; and
• the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents the amounts 
receivable for goods and services provided in the normal course of business, net of trade discounts and 
volume rebates, and value added tax.

Interest is recognised, in profi t or loss, using the effective interest rate method.

 1.17 Cost of sales
When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as an expense in the period 
in which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write down of inventories to net realisable value 
and all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the write down or loss occurs. The 
amount of any reversal of any write down of inventories, arising from an increase in net realisable value, is 
recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the 
reversal occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write down of inventories is limited to the original carrying 
amount had no write down been recognised.

 1.18 Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying 
asset are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset until such time as the asset is ready for its intended use. 
The amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined as follows:
•  actual borrowing costs on funds specifi cally borrowed for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset less 

any temporary investment of those borrowings; or
•  weighted average of the borrowing costs applicable to the entity on funds generally borrowed for the 

purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset. The borrowing costs capitalised do not exceed the total borrowing 
costs incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs commences when:
• expenditure for the asset has occurred;
• borrowing costs have been incurred; and
• activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress.

Capitalisation is suspended during extended periods in which active development is interrupted.

Capitalisation ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its 
intended use or sale are complete.

All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
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 1.19 Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions
A foreign currency transaction is recorded, on initial recognition in Rands, by applying to the foreign currency 
amount the spot exchange rate between the functional currency and the foreign currency at the date of the 
transaction.

At each balance sheet date:
• foreign currency monetary items are translated using the closing rate; and
•  non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using 

the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at rates 
different from those at which they were translated on initial recognition during the period or in previous annual 
fi nancial statements are recognised in profi t or loss in the period in which they arise.

Cash fl ows arising from transactions in a foreign currency are recorded in Rands by applying to the foreign 
currency amount the exchange rate between the Rand and the foreign currency at the date of the cash fl ow.

 1.20 Earnings per share
Earnings per share is based on the attributable profi t for the year divided by the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares in issue during the year. Fully diluted earnings per share is presented when the inclusion of 
potential ordinary shares has a dilutive effect on earnings per share.

 1.21 Headline earnings per share
Headline earnings per share is based on the same calculation as in earnings per share above except that 
attributable profi t specifi cally excludes items as set out in Circular 08/2007 ‘Interpretation of Statement of 
Investment Practice No 1: Headline Earnings’ issued by the South African Institute for Chartered Accountants. 
Fully diluted headline earnings per share is presented when the inclusion of potential ordinary shares has a 
dilutive effect on headline earnings per share.

2. NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
IFRIC 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives
IFRIC 9 requires an entity to assess whether an embedded derivative is required to be separated from the host 
contract and accounted for as a derivative when the entity fi rst becomes a party to the contract. Subsequent 
reassessment is prohibited unless there is a change in the terms of the contract that signifi cantly modifi es the cash 
fl ows that otherwise would be required under the contract, in which case reassessment is required.

The effective date of the interpretation is for years beginning on or after 1 June 2006.

The group has adopted the interpretation for the fi rst time in the 2009 annual fi nancial statements.

The impact of the interpretation is not material.
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2. NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS (continued)
 2.1 Standards and interpretations not yet effective

The group has chosen not to early adopt the following standards and interpretations, which have been 
published and are mandatory for the group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 September 2009 or 
later periods:

IFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation
The interpretation deals with the following issues:
•  Presentation currency does not create an exposure to which an entity may apply hedge accounting. 

Consequently, a parent entity may designate as a hedged risk only the foreign exchange differences arising 
from a difference between its own functional currency and that of its foreign operation.

•  Any entity or entities within a group can hold a hedging instrument in a hedge of a net investment in a 
foreign operation. The parent entity holding the net investment in a foreign operation therefore does not also 
have to hold the hedging instrument.

•  How an entity should determine the amounts to be reclassifi ed from equity to profi t or loss for both the 
hedging instrument and the hedged item when the entity disposes of the investment.

•  IAS 39 (AC 133) Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement must be applied to determine the 
amount that needs to be reclassifi ed to profi t or loss from the foreign currency translation reserve in respect 
of the hedging instrument, and IAS 21 (AC 112) The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates must be 
applied in respect of the hedged item.

The effective date of the interpretation is for years beginning on or after 1 October 2008.

The group expects to adopt the interpretation for the fi rst time in the 2010 annual fi nancial statements.

It is unlikely that the interpretation will have a material impact on the group’s annual fi nancial statements.

IAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of Annual Financial Statements
The main revisions to IAS 1 (AC 101):
•  require the presentation of non-owner changes in equity either in a single statement of comprehensive 

income or in an income statement and statement of comprehensive income;
•  require the presentation of a balance sheet at the beginning of the earliest comparative period whenever a 

retrospective adjustment is made. This requirement includes related notes;
•  require the disclosure of income tax and reclassifi cation adjustments relating to each component of other 

comprehensive income. The disclosures may be presented on the face of the statement of comprehensive 
income or in the notes;

•  allow dividend presentations to be made either in the statement of changes in equity or in the notes only; 
and

•  have changed the titles to some of the fi nancial statement components, where the ‘balance sheet’ becomes 
the ‘statement of fi nancial position’ and the ‘cash fl ow statement’ becomes the ‘statement of cash fl ows.’ 
These new titles will be used in International Financial Reporting Standards, but are not mandatory for use 
in annual fi nancial statements.

The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2009.

The group expects to adopt the standard for the fi rst time in the 2010 annual fi nancial statements.

It is unlikely that the standard will have a material impact on the group’s annual fi nancial statements.
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 2.1 Standards and interpretations not yet effective (continued)

IAS 23 (Revised) Borrowing Costs
The revision requires an entity to capitalise borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction 
or production of a qualifying asset (one that takes a substantial period of time to get ready for use or sale) as 
part of the cost of that asset. The option of immediately expensing those borrowing costs has been removed.

The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2009.

The group expects to adopt the standard for the fi rst time in the 2010 annual fi nancial statements.

It is unlikely that the standard will have a material impact on the group’s annual fi nancial statements.

IFRS 8 Operating Segments
IFRS 8 (AC 145) replaces IAS 14 (AC 115) Segment Reporting. The new standard requires a ‘management 
approach’, under which segment information is presented on the same basis as that used for internal reporting 
purposes.

The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2009.

The group expects to adopt the standard for the fi rst time in the 2010 annual fi nancial statements.

It is unlikely that the standard will have a material impact on the group’s annual fi nancial statements.

IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate
IFRIC 15 (AC 448) specifi es whether an agreement for the construction of real estate is within the scope of 
IAS 11 (AC 109) Construction Contracts or IAS 18 (AC 111) Revenue, and thus impacts the related recognition 
of revenue. An agreement for the construction of real estate is a construction contract within the scope of 
IAS 11 (AC 109) only when the buyer is able to specify the major structural elements of the design of the real 
estate before construction begins and/or specify major structural changes once construction is in progress. 
Revenue in such cases should be determined in accordance with the percentage of completion of the contract. 
In all other cases, IAS 18 (AC 111) applies. If IAS 18 (AC 111) applies and the entity is required to provide the 
materials for the construction as well as carry out the construction activity, the supply represents the sale of 
goods. In such cases, revenue is recognised on delivery of the constructed asset. If the entity is not required 
to provide materials, but only to construct the real estate, the supply is the rendering of services, and revenue 
should be recognised on the percentage of completion basis.

The effective date of the interpretation is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2009.

The group expects to adopt the interpretation for the fi rst time in the 2010 annual fi nancial statements.

It is unlikely that the interpretation will have a material impact on the group’s annual fi nancial statements.
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2. NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS (continued)
 2.1 Standards and interpretations not yet effective (continued)

IFRS 2 Amendment: IFRS 2 Share-based Payment: Vesting Conditions and Cancellations
The amendment clarifi es that vesting conditions are only performance conditions or service conditions. 
All other conditions are non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are accounted for in the same manner 
as market conditions. It further clarifi es that if either party can choose not to satisfy a non-vesting condition, 
then the arrangement is treated as a cancellation upon non-fulfi lment of that condition.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2009.

The group expects to adopt the amendment for the fi rst time in the 2010 annual fi nancial statements.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on the group’s annual fi nancial statements.

IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and IAS 1 Presentation of Annual Financial Statements 
Amendment: Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising on Liquidation
The revision requires that certain puttable fi nancial instruments and other instruments that impose on the 
entity an obligation to deliver a pro rata share of the net assets of the entity on liquidation should be classifi ed 
as equity if certain conditions are met. Any classifi cations of such items are to be disclosed in the annual 
fi nancial statements, together with information concerning the entity’s objectives and policies with regard to 
managing such obligations.

The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2009.

The group expects to adopt the standard for the fi rst time in the 2010 annual fi nancial statements.

It is unlikely that the standard will have a material impact on the group’s annual fi nancial statements.

May 2008 Annual Improvements to IFRSs: Amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
The amendment relates to changes in the implementation guidance of the standard. “Total interest income” 
was removed as a component of fi nance costs from paragraph IG13. This was to remove inconsistency with 
the requirement of IAS 1 (AC 101) Presentation of Financial Statements which precludes the offsetting of 
income and expenses.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2009.

The group expects to adopt the amendment for the fi rst time in the 2010 annual fi nancial statements.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on the group’s annual fi nancial statements.

May 2008 Annual Improvements to IFRSs: Amendments to IAS 8 Accounting Policies Changes in 
Accounting Estimates and Errors
The amendment clarifi ed that implementation guidance related to any standard is only mandatory when it is 
identifi ed as an integral part of the standard.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2009.

The group expects to adopt the amendment for the fi rst time in the 2010 annual fi nancial statements.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on the group’s annual fi nancial statements.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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2. NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS (continued)
 2.1 Standards and interpretations not yet effective (continued)

May 2008 Annual Improvements to IFRSs: Amendments to IAS 10 Events after the Reporting Period
The amendment clarifi ed that if dividends are declared (appropriately authorised and no longer at the discretion 
of the entity) after the reporting period but before the annual fi nancial statements are authorised for issue, the 
dividends may not be recognised as a liability as no obligation exists at the reporting date; thus clarifying that 
in such cases a liability cannot be raised even if there is a constructive obligation.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2009.

The group expects to adopt the amendment for the fi rst time in the 2010 annual fi nancial statements.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on the group’s annual fi nancial statements.

May 2008 Annual Improvements to IFRSs: Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment
The term ‘net selling price’ has been replaced with ‘fair value less cost to sell’ in the defi nition of recoverable 
amount.

The effective date of the amendments is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2009.

The group expects to adopt the amendments for the fi rst time in the 2010 annual fi nancial statements.

It is unlikely that the amendments will have a material impact on the group’s annual fi nancial statements.

May 2008 Annual Improvements to IFRSs: Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment
The amendment requires entities that routinely sell items of property, plant and equipment that they have 
previously held for rental to others, to transfer such assets to inventories at their carrying amount when they 
cease to be rented and are held for sale. The proceeds from the sale of such assets should be recognised as 
revenue in accordance with IAS 18 (AC 111) Revenue. IFRS 5 (AC 142) Non-current Assets Held for Sale and 
Discontinued Operations does not apply in these situations.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2009.

The group expects to adopt the amendment for the fi rst time in the 2010 annual fi nancial statements.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on the group’s annual fi nancial statements.

May 2008 Annual Improvements to IFRSs: Amendments to IAS 18 Revenue
With regard to fi nancial service fees, the term ‘direct costs’ has been replaced with ‘transaction costs’ as 
defi ned in IAS 39 (AC 133) Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. This was in order to remove 
the inconsistency for costs incurred in originating fi nancial assets and liabilities that should be deferred and 
recognised as an adjustment to the underlying effective interest rate.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2009.

The group expects to adopt the amendment for the fi rst time in the 2010 annual fi nancial statements.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on the group’s annual fi nancial statements.
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2. NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS (continued)
 2.1 Standards and interpretations not yet effective (continued)

May 2008 Annual Improvements to IFRSs: Amendments to IAS 19 Employee Benefi ts.
With regard to curtailments and negative past service costs clarifi cation has been made that:
•  When a plan amendment reduces benefi ts, the effect of the reduction for future service is a curtailment and 

the effect of any reduction for past service is a negative past service cost;
•  Negative past service cost arises when a change in the benefi ts, attributable to past service results in a 

reduction in the present value of the defi ned benefi t obligation; and
•  A curtailment may arise from a reduction in the extent to which future salary increases are linked to the 

benefi ts payable for past service.

The defi nition of “return on plan assets” has also been amended to require the deduction of plan administration 
costs only to the extent that such costs have not been refl ected in the actuarial assumptions used to measure 
the defi ned benefi t obligation.

The term “fall due” in the defi nition of “short-term employee benefi ts” has been replaced with “due to be 
settled”.

The effective date of the amendments is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2009.

The group expects to adopt the amendments for the fi rst time in the 2010 annual fi nancial statements.

It is unlikely that the amendments will have a material impact on the group’s annual fi nancial statements.

May 2008 Annual Improvements to IFRSs: Amendments to IAS 20 Accounting for Government Grants 
and Disclosure of Government Assistance
The amendment requires that the benefi t of loans from Government with a below market rate of interest be 
accounted for as a government grant, measured as the difference between the initial carrying amount of the 
loan determined in accordance with IAS 39 (AC 133) Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement 
and the proceeds received.

The terminology in the standard was also amended to bring it in line with other standards and interpretations.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2009.

The group expects to adopt the amendment for the fi rst time in the 2010 annual fi nancial statements.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on the group’s annual fi nancial statements.

May 2008 Annual Improvements to IFRSs: Amendments to IAS 23 Borrowing Costs (as revised in 2007)
The description of specifi c components of borrowing costs has been replaced with a reference to the guidance 
in IAS 39 (AC 133) Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement on effective interest rate.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2009.

The group expects to adopt the amendment for the fi rst time in the 2010 annual fi nancial statements.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on the group’s annual fi nancial statements.
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2. NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS (continued)
 2.1 Standards and interpretations not yet effective (continued)

May 2008 Annual Improvements to IFRSs: Amendments to IAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinfl ationary 
Economies
The standard was amended to refl ect the fact that in historical cost annual fi nancial statements, some assets 
and liabilities may be measured at current values (e.g. property, plant and equipment measured at fair value).

Some terminology of the standard was amended to make it consistent with other standards and interpretations.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2009.

The group expects to adopt the amendment for the fi rst time in the 2010 annual fi nancial statements.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on the group’s annual fi nancial statements.

May 2008 Annual Improvements to IFRSs: Amendments to IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting
The amendment clarifi es that the requirement to present information on earnings per share in interim fi nancial 
reports applies only to entities within the scope of IAS 33 (AC 104) Earnings per Share. 

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2009.

The group expects to adopt the amendment for the fi rst time in the 2010 annual fi nancial statements.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on the group’s annual fi nancial statements.

May 2008 Annual Improvements to IFRSs: Amendments to IAS 36 Impairment of Assets
The amendment requires disclosures of estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of cash-
generating units containing goodwill or intangible assets with indefi nite useful lives. Specifi cally, the following 
disclosures are required when discounted cash fl ows are used to estimate fair value less costs to sell:
• the period over which management has projected cash fl ows;
• the growth rate used to extrapolate cash fl ow projections; and
• the discount rate(s) applied to the cash fl ow projections.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2009.

The group expects to adopt the amendment for the fi rst time in the 2010 annual fi nancial statements.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on the group’s annual fi nancial statements.
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2. NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS (continued)
 2.1 Standards and interpretations not yet effective (continued)

May 2008 Annual Improvements to IFRSs: Amendments to IAS 38 Intangible Assets
The amendments clarify the circumstances in which an entity can recognise a prepayment asset for advertising 
or promotional expenditure. Recognition of an asset would be permitted up to the point at which the entity has 
the right to access the goods purchased or up to the point of receipt of services.

In addition, wording perceived as prohibiting the use of the unit of production method if it results in a lower 
amount of accumulated amortisation than under the straight line method has been removed. Entities may 
use the unit of production method when the resulting amortisation charge refl ects the expected pattern of 
consumption of the expected future economic benefi ts embodied in an intangible asset.

The effective date of the amendments is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2009.

The group expects to adopt the amendments for the fi rst time in the 2010 annual fi nancial statements.

It is unlikely that the amendments will have a material impact on the group’s annual fi nancial statements.

May 2008 Annual Improvements to IFRSs: Amendments to IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement
IAS 39 (AC 133) prohibits the classifi cation of fi nancial instruments into or out of the fair value through profi t 
or loss category after initial recognition. The amendments set out a number of changes in circumstances that 
are not considered to be reclassifi cations for this purpose.

The amendments have also removed references to the designation of hedging instruments at the segment 
level.

The amendments further clarify that the revised effective interest rate calculated when fair value hedge 
accounting ceases, in accordance with paragraph 92 IAS 39 (AC 133) should be used for the remeasurement 
of the hedged item when paragraph AG8 of IAS 39 (AC 133) is applicable.

The effective date of the amendments is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2009.

The group expects to adopt the amendments for the fi rst time in the 2010 annual fi nancial statements.

It is unlikely that the amendments will have a material impact on the group’s annual fi nancial statements.

May 2008 Annual Improvements to IFRSs: Amendments to IAS 40 Investment Property and IAS 16 
Property, Plant and Equipment
Property being constructed for use as investment property is now classifi ed as investment property and not 
property, plant and equipment (as previously required). Even if the entity accounts for investment property 
at fair value, such property may be measured at cost until the earlier of date fair value is determinable or 
construction is complete.

Some terminology in the standard has been amended to be consistent with other standards and
interpretations.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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2. NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS (continued)
 2.1 Standards and interpretations not yet effective (continued)

May 2008 Annual Improvements to IFRSs: Amendments to IAS 40 Investment Property and IAS 16 
Property, Plant and Equipment (conitnued)
In determining the carrying amount of investment property held under a lease and accounted for using the fair 
value model, the amendment clarifi ed that any lease liability should be added back to the valuation to arrive at 
the carrying amount, rather than the fair value of the investment property.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2009.

The group expects to adopt the amendment for the fi rst time in the 2010 annual fi nancial statements.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on the group’s annual fi nancial statements.

May 2008 Annual Improvements to IFRSs: Amendments to IAS 41 Agriculture
The amendment impacts the discount rate used for fair value calculations. The discount rate was previously 
required to be a pre-tax rate. The amendment requires a current market rate to be used, but permits this to be 
a pre-tax or post-tax rate according to the valuation methodology used.

Additional biological transformation may now be taken into consideration when calculating the fair value of 
biological assets using discounted cash fl ows.

In addition, the defi nition of ‘agricultural activity’ has been amended to include the harvest of biological assets. 
‘Point of sale costs’ have been replaced with ‘costs to sell’, where costs to sell are defi ned as the incremental 
costs directly attributable to the disposal of an asset, excluding fi nance costs and income taxes.

Logs are now an example of products as a result of processing after the harvest rather than an example of 
agricultural produce. Felled trees replaces the example of logs in agricultural produce.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2009.

The group expects to adopt the amendment for the fi rst time in the 2010 annual fi nancial statements.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on the group’s annual fi nancial statements.

IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards and IAS 27 Consolidated and 
Separate Annual Financial Statements: Amendment for determining cost of investment in the separate 
annual fi nancial statements on fi rst time adoption
The amendments:
•  allow for the purposes of fi rst-time adoption of IFRS, investors to use a deemed cost to measure the initial 

cost of investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities, and associates in the separate annual fi nancial 
statements. This deemed cost is either fair value or the carrying amount under previous accounting practice; 
and

•  require that, when a new parent is formed in a reorganisation, the new parent must measure the cost of 
its investment in the previous parent at the carrying amount of its share of the equity items of the previous 
parent at the date of the reorganisation.

The effective date of the amendments is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2009.

The group expects to adopt the amendments for the fi rst time in the 2010 annual fi nancial statements.

It is unlikely that the amendments will have a material impact on the company’s annual fi nancial statements.
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2. NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS (continued)
 2.1 Standards and interpretations not yet effective (continued)

IFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations
The revisions to IFRS 3 (AC 140) Business Combinations require:
• acquisition costs to be expensed;
•  non-controlling interest to either be calculated at fair value or at their proportionate share of the net 

identifi able assets of the acquiree;
•  contingent consideration to be included in the cost of the business combination without further adjustment 

to goodwill, apart from measurement period adjustments;
•  all previous interests in the acquiree to be remeasured to fair value at acquisition date when control is 

achieved in stages, and for the fair value adjustments to be recognised in profi t or loss;
•  goodwill to be measured as the difference between the acquisition date fair value of consideration paid, 

non-controlling interest and fair value of previous shareholding and the fair value of the net identifi able 
assets of the acquiree;

•  the acquirer to reassess, at acquisition date, the classifi cation of the net identifi able assets of the acquiree, 
except for leases and insurance contracts; and

•  contingent liabilities of the acquiree to only be included in the net identifi able assets when there is a present 
obligation with respect to the contingent liability.

The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after 1 July 2009.

The group expects to adopt the standard for the fi rst time in the 2010 annual fi nancial statements.

It is unlikely that the standard will have a material impact on the group’s annual fi nancial statements.

IAS 27 (Amended) Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial Statements
The revisions require:
•  losses of the subsidiary to be allocated to non-controlling interest, even if they result in the non-controlling 

interest being a debit balance;
•  changes in level of control without loss of control to be accounted for as equity transactions, without any 

gain or loss being recognised or any remeasurement of goodwill;
•  when there is a change in the level of control without losing control, the group is prohibited from making 

reclassifi cation adjustments; and
•  when control is lost, the net identifi able assets of the subsidiary as well as non-controlling interest and 

goodwill are to be derecognised. Any remaining investment is remeasured to fair value at the date on which 
control is lost, and a gain or loss on loss of control is recognised in profi t or loss.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 July 2009.

The group expects to adopt the amendment for the fi rst time in the 2010 annual fi nancial statements.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on the group’s annual fi nancial statements.
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2. NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS (continued)
 2.1 Standards and interpretations not yet effective (continued)

IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: Consequential amendments due to IAS 27 (Amended) Consolidated 
and Separate Financial Statements
Cash fl ows arising from changes in level of control, where control is not lost, are equity transactions and are 
therefore accounted for as cash fl ows from fi nancing transactions.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 July 2009.

The group expects to adopt the amendment for the fi rst time in the 2010 annual fi nancial statements.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on the group’s annual fi nancial statements.

IAS 28 Investments in Associates: Consequential amendments due to IAS 27 (Amended) Consolidated 
and Separate Financial Statements
When an investment in an associate is reduced but signifi cant infl uence is retained, a proportionate share of 
other comprehensive income must be reclassifi ed to profi t or loss.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 July 2009.

The group expects to adopt the amendment for the fi rst time in the 2010 annual fi nancial statements.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on the group’s annual fi nancial statements.

IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures: Consequential amendments due to IAS 27 (Amended) Consolidated 
and Separate Financial Statements
When an interest in a joint venture is reduced but joint control is retained, a proportionate share of other 
comprehensive income must be reclassifi ed to profi t or loss.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 July 2009.

The group expects to adopt the amendment for the fi rst time in the 2010 annual fi nancial statements.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on the group’s annual fi nancial statements.

IAS 12 Income Taxes: Consequential amendments due to IAS 27 (Amended) Consolidated and Separate 
Financial Statements
The amendment is as a result of amendments to IAS 27 (AC 132) Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements. The amendment refers to situations where a subsidiary, on acquisition date, did not recognise 
a deferred tax asset in relation to deductible temporary differences, because, for example, there may not 
have been suffi cient future taxable profi ts against which to utilise the deductible temporary differences. If the 
deferred tax asset subsequently becomes recognisable, the amendment now requires that the deferred tax 
asset should be recognised against goodwill (and profi t or loss to the extent that it exceeds goodwill), only if it 
results from information in the measurement period about circumstances that existed at acquisition date. No 
adjustment may be made to goodwill for information outside of the measurement period.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 July 2009.

The group expects to adopt the amendment for the fi rst time in the 2010 annual fi nancial statements.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on the group’s annual fi nancial statements.
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2. NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS (continued)
 2.1 Standards and interpretations not yet effective (continued)

May 2008 Annual Improvements to IFRSs: Amendments to IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and 
Discontinued Operations
The amendment clarifi es that assets and liabilities of a subsidiary should be classifi ed as held for sale if the 
parent is committed to a plan involving loss of control of the subsidiary, regardless of whether the entity will 
retain a non-controlling interest after the sale.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 July 2009.

The group expects to adopt the amendment for the fi rst time in the 2010 annual fi nancial statements.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on the group’s annual fi nancial statements.

IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement – Amendments for eligible hedged items
The amendment provides clarifi cation on two hedge accounting issues:
• infl ation in a fi nancial hedged item; and
• a one sided risk in a hedged item.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 July 2009.

The group expects to adopt the amendment for the fi rst time in the 2010 annual fi nancial statements.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on the group’s annual fi nancial statements.

Amendment to IAS 39 and IFRS 7 Reclassifi cation of Financial Assets
The amendment permits an entity to reclassify certain fi nancial assets out of the fair value through profi t or 
loss category if certain stringent conditions are met. It also permits an entity to transfer from the available for 
sale category to loans and receivables under certain circumstances. Additional disclosures are required in the 
event of any of these reclassifi cations.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 July 2009.

The group expects to adopt the amendment for the fi rst time in the 2010 annual fi nancial statements.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on the group’s annual fi nancial statements.

IFRIC 17 Distributions of Non-Cash Assets to Owners
The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 July 2009.

The group expects to adopt the amendment for the fi rst time in the 2010 annual fi nancial statements.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on the group’s annual fi nancial statements.

IFRIC 18 Transfer of Assets to Customers
The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 July 2009.

The group expects to adopt the amendment for the fi rst time in the 2010 annual fi nancial statements.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on the group’s annual fi nancial statements.
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3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

 2009 2008
  Accumu-   Accumu- 
  lated   lated 
  depre- Carrying   depre- Carrying
Figures in Rand thousand Cost ciation value Cost ciation value

Group
Land and buildings 113 414 (234) 113 180 95 740 – 95 740
Leasehold property 1 139 (1 091) 48 – – –
Plant and machinery 175 196 (23 751) 151 445 90 245 (9 556) 80 689
Furniture and fixtures 1 702 (603) 1 099 423 (50) 373
Motor vehicles 21 936 (11 923) 10 013 2 065 (160) 1 905
Office equipment 933 (550) 383 35 (6) 29
IT equipment 5 427 (3 825) 1 602 626 (184) 442
Computer software 798 (624) 174 – – –
Leasehold improvements 88 (66) 22 88 (22) 66
Property, plant and equipment 
under construction – – – 17 491 – 17 491

Total 320 633 (42 667) 277 966 206 713 (9 978) 196 735

Company      
Furniture and fixtures 196 (34) 162 188 (3) 185
Office equipment 20 (6) 14 20 (2) 18
IT equipment 151 (76) 75 151 (26) 125
Leasehold improvements 88 (66) 22 88 (22) 66

Total 455 (182) 273 447 (53) 394

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – Group – 2009

   Additions
   through
   business
 Opening  combi-   Depre-
Figures in Rand thousand balance Additions nations Disposals Transfers ciation Total

Land and buildings 95 740 5 794 – – 11 880 (234) 113 180
Leasehold property – – 48 – – – 48
Plant and machinery 80 689 71 189 3 458 (35) 5 584 (9 440) 151 445
Furniture and fixtures 373 494 406 – – (174) 1 099
Motor vehicles 1 905 1 095 9 282 (49) – (2 220) 10 013
Office equipment 29 84 327 – – (57) 383
IT equipment 442 597 1 246 – 27 (710) 1 602
Computer software – 49 234 – – (109) 174
Leasehold improvements 66 – – – – (44) 22
Property, plant 
and equipment 
under construction 17 491 – – – (17 491) – –

 196 735 79 302 15 001 (84) – (12 988) 277 966
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3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – Group – 2008

   Additions
   through
   business
 Opening  combi-  Depre-
Figures in Rand thousand balance Additions nations Disposals ciation Total

Land and buildings – 2 146 93 594 – – 95 740
Plant and machinery – 15 996 71 423 – (6 730) 80 689
Furniture and fixtures – 382 28 – (37) 373
Motor vehicles – 1 778 6 036 (5 716) (193) 1 905
Office equipment – 45 7 – (23) 29
IT equipment – 443 158 – (159) 442
Leasehold improvements – 88 – – (22) 66
Property, plant and
equipment under construction – 17 491 – – – 17 491

 – 38 369 171 246 (5 716) (7 164) 196 735

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – Company – 2009

 Opening  Depre- 
Figures in Rand thousand balance Additions ciation Total

Furniture and fixtures 185 8 (31) 162
Office equipment 18 – (4) 14
IT equipment 125 – (50) 75
Leasehold improvements 66 – (44) 22

 394 8 (129) 273

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – Company – 2008

 Opening  Depre- 
Figures in Rand thousand balance Additions ciation Total

Furniture and fixtures – 188 (3) 185
Office equipment – 20 (2) 18
IT equipment – 150 (25) 125
Leasehold improvements – 88 (22) 66

 – 446 (52) 394

Assets subject to instalment sale agreements – Group (Net carrying amount)
   2009 2008

Plant and machinery   53 161 54 097
Motor vehicles   6 102 1 617
Office equipment   79 –

   59 342 55 714

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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 2009 2008
  Accumu-   Accumu-
  lated   lated
  amor- Carrying  amor- Carrying
Figures in Rand thousand Cost tisation value Cost tisation value

4. GOODWILL
Group      
Goodwill 482 595 – 482 595 102 423 – 102 423

Reconciliation of goodwill – Group – 2009

  Additions
  through
  business  
 Opening combi- Impair-
Figures in Rand thousand balance nations ment Total

Goodwill 102 423 393 734 (13 562) 482 595

Reconciliation of goodwill – Group – 2008
  Additions
  through
  business
 Opening combi-
Figures in Rand thousand balance nations Total

Goodwill – 102 423 102 423

Impairment testing
The cash-generating units (“CGUs”) to which the goodwill relates are detailed in the table below. Goodwill is treated 
as having an indefi nite useful life on the expectancy that the CGU to which the business relates is a going concern. 
The group tests annually whether the goodwill has suffered any impairment, in accordance with the accounting 
policy disclosed. The recoverable amounts of the CGUs have been determined based on value in use calculations. 
The assumptions applied for each of the variables are conservative and match those applied in the preparation of 
group budgets and forecasts. Assumptions are supported by past experience. Future cash fl ows were discounted at 
a rate of 15% to 20% over a 10 year period and assuming a growth rate of 9%. A period of 10 years was used as it 
is in line with the minimum investment period envisaged at the acquisition date. The value of goodwill determined on 
this basis signifi cantly exceeds the carrying value at year-end for Drift and Conco and an impairment of R13,6 million 
(2008: R Nil) was made with respect to West End.

Figures in Rand thousand 2009 2008

Allocation of goodwill 
Drift Supersand 22 718 22 718
West End Claybrick 66 143 79 705
Conco 393 734 –

Total 482 595 102 423
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5. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

 2009 2008
  Accumu-   Accumu-
  lated   lated
  amor- Carrying  amor- Carrying
Figures in Rand thousand Cost tisation value Cost tisation value

Group      
Mining rights 21 743 (2 174) 19 569 21 743 (1 087) 20 656
Brand names 23 959 (1 253) 22 706 – – –
Order book 21 951 (13 171) 8 780 – – –

Total 67 653 (16 598) 51 055 21 743 (1 087) 20 656

Reconciliation of intangible assets – Group – 2009
  Additions
  through
  business
 Opening combi- Amorti-
Figures in Rand thousand balance nations sation Total

Mining rights 20 656 – (1 087) 19 569
Brand names – 23 960 (1 254) 22 706
Order book – 21 951 (13 171) 8 780

 20 656 45 911 (15 512) 51 055

Reconciliation of intangible assets – Group – 2008
Mining rights – 21 743 (1 087) 20 656

Synopsis of mining rights

Drift Supersand
Mining Blend Regal Brick Regal Brick

Reference 
number ML06/1998 ML7/2003 – –

Mineral Sand, gravel and 
igneous rock Clay

Sand occurring
in the slimes dam Clay

Properties Portion 116, a portion of 
portion 79 of Roodekrans 
No. 183, District 
Krugersdorp, Gauteng 
measuring 26,8480 hectares 
in extent

Portion 80 of Roodekrans 
No. 183, District 
Krugersdorp, Gauteng 
measuring 38,86 hectares 
in extent

Portion 79 of Roodekrans 
No. 183, District Krugersdorp
Gauteng measuring
26,84 hectares in extent

Remaining 
portion 1 of the 
farm Waterspan 
292 – IQ 
Westonaria

Mine residue 
deposit RMT 
273/77 located
on portion 3 
of the farm 
Witpoortjie 245 
– IQ Mogale 
City District, 
measuring 
18,1590 hectares 
in extent

Remaining portion 
of portion 1 and a 
portion of portion 
32 of the farm 
Waterspan 292 
– IQ Westonaria, 
measuring 
49,9934 hectares 
in extent
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5. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)
Synopsis of mining rights (continued)

Drift Supersand
Mining Blend Regal Brick Regal Brick

Issue date 1 July 1998 26 February 2003 6 March 2007 6 March 2007

Expiration 
date 30 April 2009 30 April 2009 5 March 2017 5 March 2037

Status Old order mining right 

Application for new order 
mining right has been 
submitted but conversion is 
still pending

Old order mining 
right 

Application for 
new order mining 
right has been 
submitted but 
conversion is still 
pending

New order 
mining right

New order 
mining right

Impairment testing
The value in use of the cash-generating units to which the intangible relates has been tested for impairment (Refer 
note 4 – Goodwill).

6. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
 %  %  Carrying Carrying
 holding holding amount amount
Figures in Rand thousand 2009 2008 2009 2008

Name of company
Drift Supersand (Proprietary) Limited 100 100 28 841 28 841
West End Claybrick (Proprietary) Limited 100 100 61 558 61 558
Consolidated Power Projects (Proprietary) Limited 100 – 462 609 –
Consolidated Power Maintenance (Proprietary) Limited 100 – 1 –

   553 009 90 399

The carrying amounts of subsidiaries are shown net of impairment losses.

 Group Company

Figures in Rand thousand 2009 2008 2009 2008

7. FINANCIAL ASSETS
Loans and receivables carried at amortised cost
Environmental Rehabilitation Trust Fund 1 007 530 – –
Advances for capital under construction – 13 506 – –

 1 007 14 036 – –

The carrying value of the financial assets approximate their fair value due to the short-term nature of these 
instruments. Discounting is only performed when the effects of the time value of money are considered material.

 Group Company

Figures in Rand thousand 2009 2008 2009 2008

Non-current assets    
At amortised cost 1 007 530 – –
Loans and receivables – 13 506 – –

 1 007 14 036 – –
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 Group Company

Figures in Rand thousand 2009 2008 2009 2008

8.  DEFERRED TAX    
Deferred tax liability    
Property, plant and equipment (15 239) (2 449) (20) (20)
Acquired through business combination (12 234) (5 801) - -
Debtors and income received in advance (16 090) - - -
Tax losses available for set off against future 
taxable income 15 697 - - -
Other provisions 2 305 -  
Arising on the revaluation of property, plant and 
equipment acquired through business combination (5 837) (3 586)  
Provision for doubtful debts 2 459 46 – –
Accrual for leave pay and bonus 3 543 373 – –

 (25 396) (11 417) (20) (20)

Reconciliation of deferred tax liability    
At beginning of the year (11 417) - (20) –
Originating temporary difference on property,    
plant and equipment (12 790) (2 449) – –
Increase in deferred tax acquired through    
business combination (6 433) (5 801) – (20)
Originating temporary difference on debtors and    
income received in advance (16 090) – – –
Increase in tax losses available for set off    
against future taxable income 15 697 – – –
Originating temporary difference on other provisions 2 305 – – –
Increase in deferred tax on intangible assets    
acquired through business combination (2 251) (3 586) – –
Originating temporary difference on provision    
for doubtful debts 2 413 46 – –
Originating temporary difference on accrual    
for leave pay and bonus 3 170 373 – –

 (25 396) (11 417) (20) (20)

9. INVENTORIES
Raw materials, components 6 904 7 440 – –
Work in progress 8 919 10 646 – –
Finished goods 19 429 14 789 – –
Production supplies 9 453 6 740 – –

 44 705 39 615 – –
Inventory provisions (1 530) (1 530) – –

 43 175 38 085 – –

Inventory is carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. There were no write downs of inventory during 
the current financial year.

Inventory pledged as security
R19,4 million (2008: R Nil) finished goods in West End Claybrick was pledged as security for overdraft facilities in 
the form of a notarial bond. At year-end the overdraft amounted to R6,9 million (2008: R Nil)
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 Group Company

Figures in Rand thousand 2009 2008 2009 2008

10. LOANS TO GROUP COMPANIES    
Subsidiaries    
Drift Supersand (Proprietary) Limited – – 62 356 63 356

The loan is unsecured, R58,1 million bears
interest at prime interest rate plus 0,5% and
has no fixed terms of repayment.

The group has subordinated R20 million 
(2008: R20 million) in favour of the subsidiary’s bankers.

West End Claybrick (Proprietary) Limited – – 76 320 52 020

The loan is unsecured, bears interest at prime
interest rate and has no fixed terms of repayment.    

The group has subordinated R50 million 
(2008: R50 million) in favour of the subsidiary’s bankers.

Consolidated Power Projects (Proprietary) Limited – – 48 381 –

The loan is unsecured, bears interest at prime
interest rate and has no fixed terms of repayment.

Consolidated Power Maintenance (Proprietary) Limited – – 8 907 –

The loan is unsecured, bears interest as determined 
from time to time and has no fixed terms of repayment.

 – – 195 964 115 376

The carrying value of the loans to and from group 
companies approximate their fair value due to the 
short-term nature of these instruments. Discounting 
is only performed when the effects of the time value 
of money are considered material.    

11. AMOUNTS DUE FROM CONTRACT CUSTOMERS
Cost incurred plus recognised profits/less recognised 
losses on contracts in progress at year-end 76 186 – – –
Amounts receivable on contracts (net of impairments) 228 796 – – –

 304 982 – – –
Advances received in excess of work completed (242 909) – – –

Amounts receivable from contracts 62 073 – – –
Retentions receivable (net of impairments) 90 186 – – –

 152 259 – – –

Amounts due from contract customers 395 168 – – –
Amounts due to contract customers (242 909) – – –

 152 259 – – –
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11. AMOUNTS DUE FROM CONTRACT CUSTOMERS (continued)
Amounts due from contract customers past due but not impaired

Amounts due from contract customers which are less than 90 days past due are not considered to be impaired. At 
31 August 2009, R73,4 million (2008: R Nil) were past due but not impaired. No impairment was raised on the past 
due debtors based on the payment history of the specific debtors and the fact that credit guarantee is in place for 
a part of the past due debtors.

A provision of R14,6 million (2008: R Nil) was raised for past due amounts receivable from contract customers.

The ageing of amounts past due but not impaired is as follows:

R395,2 million (2008: R Nil) amounts due from contract customers in Conco have been ceded to the bank as 
security for facilities granted.

 Group Company

Figures in Rand thousand 2009 2008 2009 2008

61 – 90 days  73 362  – – –

Reconciliation of provision for impairment of 
amounts due from contract customers
Opening balance – – – –
Additions through acquisitions 20 824 – – –
Movement in provision 10 044 – – –

 30 868 – – –

The carrying value of amounts due from contract 
customers approximate their fair value due to the short-
term nature of these instruments. Discounting is only 
performed when the effects of the time value of money 
are considered material.

12. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES    
Trade receivables 43 820 30 186 – –
Prepayments 1 138 14 14 14
Deposits 803 294 – –
VAT 6 256 (1) – –
Retentions 956 – – –
Professional indemnity fund 3 546 – – –
Other 1 545 1 060 425 91

 58 064 31 553 439 105

Trade and other receivables pledged as security    
Certain trade receivables have been ceded to the bank as security for facilities granted.

R7,8 million (2008: R12,9 million) trade receivables in West End Claybrick have been ceded to the bank as security 
for facilities granted.

Trade and other receivables past due but not impaired
Trade and other receivables which are less than 90 days past due are not considered to be impaired. At 31 August 
2009, R1,4 million (2008: R1,0 million) were past due but not impaired. No impairment was raised on the past due 
debtors based on the payment history of the specifi c debtors and the fact that credit guarantee is in place at West 
End Claybrick for the majority of the past due debtors.

A provision of R3,9 million (2008: R2,3 million) was raised for past due trade and other receivables.
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12. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)
Trade and other receivables pledged as security
The ageing of amounts past due but not impaired is as follows:

 Group Company

Figures in Rand thousand 2009 2008 2009 2008

31 – 60 days – 454 – –
61 – 90 days 1 410 579 – –

Reconciliation of provision for impairment of trade 
and other receivables    
Opening balance 2 261 – – –
Movement in provision (62) – – –
Additions through acquisitions 1 695 2 261 – –

 3 894 2 261 – –

The carrying value of the trade and other receivables 
approximate their fair value due to the short-term 
nature of these instruments. Discounting is only 
performed when the effects of the time value of 
money are considered material.

13. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS    
Cash and cash equivalents consist of:    
Cash on hand 3 536 – – –
Bank balances 223 305 41 728 4 901 25 440
Short-term deposits 49 546 – –
Bank overdraft (6 920) – – –

 219 970 42 274 4 901 25 440

Current assets 226 890 42 274 4 901 25 440
Current liabilities (6 920) – – –

 219 970 42 274 4 901 25 440

The carrying value of the cash and cash equivalents approximate their fair value due to the short-term nature of 
these instruments. Discounting is only performed when the effects of the time value of money are considered 
material.

Certain inventory (refer note 9), certain amounts due from contract customers (refer note 11), certain trade and 
other receivables (refer note 12) and a R5 million (2008: R Nil) surety by Buildworks Group Limited were pledged as 
security for overdraft facilities.
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 Group Company

Figures in Rand thousand 2009 2008 2009 2008

14. SHARE CAPITAL
Authorised    
1,3 billion (2008: 1,0 billion) ordinary    
shares of R0,00001 each 13 10 13 10

Reconciliation of number of shares issued:    
Reported as at 1 September 2008 470 000 – 470 000 –
Issue of shares – ordinary shares 466 409 470 000 470 000 470 000

 936 409 470 000 – –

200 million additional shares are to be issued to the 
Conco vendors in the event that all warranted profits are 
met. A further 163,6 million (2008: 530 million) unissued 
ordinary shares are under the control of the directors. 
This authority remains in force until the next annual 
general meeting.

Issued share capital and share premium    
Ordinary 9 5 9 5
Shares to be issued* 140 000 – 140 000 –
Share premium 536 387 217 302 536 387 217 302

 676 396 217 307 676 396 217 307

*  To be issued to Conco vendors in terms of the Conco acquisition 

agreement.

15. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES    
Held at amortised cost    
Bank loan 32 718 52 639 – –
The loan is secured over property at Drift Supersand 
valued at R68 million, bears interest at prime less 1,5% 
and is repayable in 60 instalments of R0,9 million.

Bank loan 10 036 – – –

The loan is secured over the roof tile plant equipment 
at West End Claybrick, bears interest at prime overdraft 
rate plus 2% and is repayable in 36 months.

Vendor liability loan 52 000 – 50 000 –
The loan is unsecured, bears no interest and is    
repayable in March 2010 if all warranted profits    
are met.    

Phatsima Holdings (Proprietary) Limited 5 000 – 5 000 –

The loan is unsecured, bears interest at prime 
interest rate and is repayable in September 2010.    

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 August 2009 (continued)



 Group Company

Figures in Rand thousand 2009 2008 2009 2008

15. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (continued)    
HJ du Preez – 7 281 – –

The loan is unsecured, bears interest at prime    
interest rate and has no fixed terms of repayment.    

Other 65 – – –

The loan is unsecured, bears no interest and    
has no fixed terms of repayment.    

 99 819 59 920 55 000 –

Non-current liabilities    
At amortised cost 38 941 46 212 5 000 –

Current liabilities    
At amortised cost 60 878 13 708 50 000 –

 99 819 59 920 55 000 –

The carrying value of the fi nancial liabilities approximate 
their fair value due to the short-term nature of these 
instruments. Discounting is only performed when the 
effects of the time value of money are considered 
material.

16. INSTALMENT SALE LIABILITIES
Minimum payments due    
– within one year 27 056 19 257 – –
– in second to fifth year inclusive 87 100 52 628 – –

 114 156 71 885 – –
Less: Future finance charges (10 857) (17 223) – –

Present value of minimum payments 103 299 54 662  

Present value of minimum payments due    
– within one year 24 329 11 892 – –
– in second to fifth year inclusive 78 970 42 770 – –

 103 299 54 662 – –

Non-current liabilities 78 970 42 770 – –
Current liabilities 24 329 11 892 – –

 103 299 54 662 – –

It is group policy to acquire certain plant and machinery, motor vehicles and offi ce equipment under instalment sale 
agreements.

The average term was three to fi ve years and the average effective borrowing rate was 13%.

Interest rates are linked to prime at the contract date. All leases have fi xed repayments and no arrangements have 
been entered into for contingent rent.

The group’s obligations under instalment sale agreements are secured by the lessor’s charge over the leased assets. 
Refer note 3.

The carrying value of the instalment sale agreements approximate their fair value due to the short-term nature 
of these instruments. Discounting is only performed when the effects of the time value of money are considered 
material.
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   Utilised 
 Opening  during the 

Figures in Rand thousand balance Additions year Total

17. PROVISIONS    
Reconciliation of provisions – Group – 2009    
Environmental rehabilitation 8 793 1 108 (1 817) 8 084

Reconciliation of provisions – Group – 2008    
Environmental rehabilitation – 5 559 3 234 8 793

The provision has been raised due to the group’s obligation to rectify environmental damage on the mine situated at 
remaining portion 1 of the farm Waterpan 292 – IQ Westonaria and the Drift Supersand quarry situated at Muldersdrift.

In accordance with legislation, the land contaminated by the company must be restored to a condition as prescribed 
by the Department of Minerals (“DMR”), when mining activities come to an end. During the current year the company 
provided for this purpose. Because of the long-term nature of the liability, the biggest uncertainty in estimating the 
provision is the costs that will be incurred. In particular, the company has assumed that the site will be restored using 
technology and materials that are available currently. Estimated costs are based on current tariffs and guidelines. It is 
forecast that, due to continuing operations, the land will not have to be rehabilitated within the next 25 years, but as 
part of continuing operations portions of land are rehabilitated as part of ongoing operations from time-to-time.

 Group Company

Figures in Rand thousand 2009 2008 2009 2008

18.  TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES    
Trade payables 153 050 16 389 – –
VAT 1 556 1 493 166 134
Accrued leave pay 5 739 1 861 – –
Accrued bonus 8 365 482 600 –
Accrued audit fees 852 820 406 360
Accrued expenses 17 530 1 131 1 768 542

 187 092 22 176 2 940 1 036

The carrying value of the trade and other payables approximate their fair value due to the short-term nature of these 
instruments. Discounting is only performed when the effects of the time value of money are considered material.
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 Group Company

Figures in Rand thousand 2009 2008 2009 2008

19.  RETIREMENT BENEFITS    
Defi ned contribution plan    
It is the policy of the group to provide retirement benefi ts 
to all its employees. A defi ned contribution provident fund, 
which is subject to the Pensions Fund Act, exists for this 
purpose.    

The group is under no obligation to cover any unfunded 
benefi ts.    

The total group contribution to such schemes 1 824 1 542 – –

20.  REVENUE    
Sale of goods 745 323 201 344 – –

21.  COST OF SALES    
Sale of goods    
Cost of goods sold 534 353 92 899 – –

22.  OPERATING PROFIT/(LOSS)    
Operating profit/(loss) for the year is stated after 
accounting for the following:    

Operating lease charges    
• Premises 1 926 126 233 126
• Equipment 327 201 – –

 2 253 327 233 126

Profit/(loss) on sale of property, plant and equipment 34 (40) – –
Impairment on other financial assets (7) – – –
Profit on exchange differences 6 353 – – –
Amortisation on intangible assets 15 512 1 087 – –
Impairment of goodwill 13 562 – – –
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 12 988 7 164 129 52
Employee costs 65 534 32 244 5 347 3 513
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23. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
  Bonus and   
  performance Company Subsistence 
  related contri- and travel 
Figures in Rand thousand Salary payments butions allowance Total

Executive     
2009 
Paid by the company     
Raoul Gamsu 1 896 2 400 – 120 4 416
Ivor Klitzner 1 260 464 – 84 1 808
Paid by subsidiaries     
Bernard Berelowitz (6 months) 1 093 – 248 74 1 415

 4 249 2 864 248 278 7 639

2008     
Paid by the company     
Raol Gamsu 1 680 – – 120 1 800
Ivor Klitzner (11 months) 1 008 – – 92 1 100
Paid by subsidiaries     
Jannie Hooman 2 232 180 104 – 2 516

 4 920 180 104 212 5 416

  
 Board fees Total

Non-executive
2009
Paid by the company  
Herman Mashaba 120 120
Noel Machingawuta 120 120
Anthony Dixon 120 120
Panos Voutyritsas 55 55
Nathan Mintah 41 41
Andrea Geisser 24 24

 480 480

2008 
Paid by the company
Herman Mashaba 120 120
Noel Machingawuta 120 120

 240 240

 Group Company

Figures in Rand thousand 2009 2008 2009 2008

24. INVESTMENT REVENUE    
Interest revenue    
Bank 7 257 586 385 371
Other 163 – – –
Loans to subsidiaries – – 15 382 15 340

 7 420 586 15 767 15 711

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 August 2009 (continued)



 Group Company

Figures in Rand thousand 2009 2008 2009 2008

25. FINANCE COSTS
Financial liabilities 576 6 999 – –
Instalment sale agreements 10 598 – – –
Bank 26 – – –
Other interest paid 996 3 19 3

 12 196 7 002 19 3

26. TAXATION
Major components of the tax expense    
Current    
Local income tax – current period 25 917 17 192 3 144 3 844

Deferred    
Originating and reversing temporary differences (8 204) 1 859 – 20
Other deferred tax 2 847 171 – –
Arising from prior period adjustments (961) – – –

 (6 318) 2 030 – 20

 19 599 19 222 3 144 3 864

Reconciliation of the tax expense    
Reconciliation between accounting profit and 
tax expense.    

Accounting profit 57 020 68 278 11 232 13 371

Tax at the applicable tax rate of 28% 15 966 19 118 3 144 3 744

Tax effect of adjustments on taxable income    
Non-deductible expenditure 119 451 – 120
Permanent differences 3 224 (347) – –
Other 2 727 – – –
Arising from prior period adjustments (961) – – –
Tax losses carried forward (1 476) – – –

 19 599 19 222 3 144 3 864

The estimated tax loss available for set off against future 
taxable income is R57,9 million (2008: R Nil).

27.  AUDITORS' REMUNERATION    
Fees 1 416 838 373 360
Consulting 495 117 – –

 1 911 955 373 360
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 Group Company

Figures in Rand thousand 2009 2008 2009 2008

28.  EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic earnings per share    
Profit for the year attributable to equity holders 
of the parent 37 421 49 056 – –

Shares in issue at 1 September (‘000) 470 000 – – –
Shares issued (‘000) 165 574 444 575 – –
Shares issued to vendors (‘000) 78 493 – – –

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the 
purpose of basic earnings per share (‘000) 714 067 444 575 – –

Basic earnings per share (cents) 5,24 11,03 – –

Diluted earnings per share    
Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of 
the parent 37 421 49 056 – –

Shares in issue at 1 September (‘000) 470 000 – – –
Shares issued (‘000) 165 574 444 575 – –
Shares issued to vendors (‘000) 78 493 – – –
Shares issued to be issued to vendors in 
February 2009 (‘000) 52 329 – – –

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the 
purpose of diluted earnings per share (‘000) 766 396 444 575 – –

Diluted earnings per share (cents) 4,88 11,03 – –

Headline earnings per share 
Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of 
the parent 37 421 49 056 – –
(Less)/add IAS 16 (profit)/loss on disposal of property, 
plant and equipment  (33) 40 – –
Impairment of goodwill 13 562 – – –

Headline earnings for the year attributable to equity 
holders of the parent 50 950 49 096 – –

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the 
purpose of headline earnings per share (‘000) 
(Refer Basic earnings per share) 714 067 444 575 – –

Headline earnings per share (cents) 7,14 11,04 – –

Fully diluted headline earnings per share
Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of 
the parent 37 421 49 056 – –
(Less)/add IAS 16 (profit)/loss on disposal of property, 
plant and equipment  (33) 40 – –
Impairment of goodwill 13 562 – – –
Headline earnings for the year attributable to equity 
holders of the parent 50 950 49 096 – –
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Figures in Rand thousand 2009 2008 2009 2008

28.  EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)
Shares in issue at 1 September (‘000) 470 000 – – –
Shares issued (‘000) 165 574 444 575 – –
Shares issued to vendors (‘000) 78 493 – – –
Shares issued to be issued to vendors in 
February 2009 (‘000) 52 329 –  
Shares issued to be issued to vendors in 
February 2010 (‘000) 52 328 – – –

Weighted average number of ordinary    
shares for the purpose of fully diluted    
headline earnings per share (‘000) 818 724 444 575 – –

Fully diluted headline earnings per share (cents) 6,22 11,04 – –

The potentially dilutive shares relate to shares that will 
have to be issued if all the Conco profit warranties are 
met in terms of the acquisition agreement.

29. CASH GENERATED FROM/
 (USED IN) OPERATIONS

Profit before taxation 57 020 68 278 11 232 13 371
Adjustments for:    
Depreciation and amortisation 28 500 8 251 129 52
(Profit) loss on sale of assets (34) 40 – –
Interest received (7 420) (586) (15 767) (15 711)
Finance costs 12 196 7 002 19 3
Impairment of goodwill 13 562 – – –
Movements in provisions (709) (5 559) – –
Impairment loss (7) – – –
Changes in working capital:    
Inventories (1 284) (23 220) – –
Trade and other receivables 339 066 (9 709) (332) (105)
Amounts due from contract customers (267 777) – – –
Amounts due to contract customers (16 876) – – –
Trade and other payables (14 021) 1 451 1 904 1 036
Advance payments 49 693 – – –

 191 909 45 948 (2 815) (1 354)

30. TAX PAID    
Balance at beginning of the year (22 431) - (3 844) -
Current tax for the year recognised in income statement (25 917) (17 192) (3 144) (3 844)
Adjustment in respect of businesses acquired during 
the year (32 867) (5 239) – –
Balance at end of the year 49 835 22 431 2 635 3 844

 (31 380) – (4 353) –
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 Group Company

Figures in Rand thousand 2009 2008 2009 2008

31. ACQUISITION OF BUSINESSES
Fair value of assets acquired    
Property, plant and equipment 14 817 171 246 – –
Deferred tax assets/liabilities (20 298) (5 784) – –
Inventories 46 281 14 863 – –
Trade and other receivables 444 533 21 843 – –
Trade and other payables (434 578) (18 974) – –
Tax liabilities (32 867) (5 239) – –
Provisions – (3 234) – –
Borrowings – (4 723) – –
Cash 48 621 8 671 – –
Loans from shareholders – (141 763) – –
Short-term loan – (5 000) – –
Instalment sale agreements (5 972) (62 711) – –
Cost directly attributable to the acquisition (2 682) (3 267) – –

Net tangible assets and liabilities 57 855 (34 072) – –

Goodwill and intangibles 439 645 124 166 – –
Purchase price 497 500 90 399 – –
Loans acquired (34 891) – – –

 462 609 90 399 – –

Comprising    
Drift Supersand – 28 841 – –
West End Claybrick – 61 558 – –
Consolidated Power Projects 462 609 – – –

 462 609 90 399 – –

Net cash outflow on acquisition    
Cash consideration paid (202 500) – (202 500) (2)
Costs directly attributable to the acquisition (2 682) – (2 682) –
Cash acquired 48 621 8 671 – –

 (156 561) 8 671 (205 182) (2)

Intangible assets that do not qualify for separate recognition are classifi ed as goodwill.

Effective 1 September 2007 the group acquired 100% of Drift Supersand for a total consideration of 95,7 million 
shares in Buildworks.

The business was acquired in order to invest in the aggregate business in line with the group vision.

Effective 1 September 2007 the group acquired 99% of West End Claybrick for a total consideration of 204,7 million 
shares in Buildworks.

The business was acquired in order to invest in the heavy building materials supply business in line with the group 
vision.

Effective 18 February 2009 the group acquired 100% of Consolidated Power Projects for a total consideration of 
R497,5 million. The transaction was funded through the initial issue of 150 million Buildworks shares to the vendors 
of Conco at 70 cents per share and a cash payment of R202,5 million. The balance of the purchase price will be 
settled during April 2010 in terms of the acquisition agreement, once the fi nal warranted profi ts have been calculated. 
If all warranted profi ts are met, the balance will be settled through the issue of an additional 200 million shares at 
70 cents per share and a cash payment of R50 million. At this stage it is probable that the warranted profi ts will be met.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31. ACQUISITION OF BUSINESSES (continued)
The business was acquired to expand the group’s infrastructure business in line with its vision.

The acquisition price for Consolidated Power Projects was based on historical and future earnings. The future 
earnings are based on reasonable estimates. Based on the historical and future earnings, the purchase price was 
calculated and taking into account fair valuations for similar companies in the same sector.

Financial information of acquirees:
Revenue since acquisition:
2009:
Conco R524,8 million

2008:
Drift R104,2 million
West End Claybrick R97,1 million

Net profit since acquisition:
2009:
Conco: R51,9 million

2008:
Drift R15,4 million
West End Claybrick R26,7 million

Pro-forma revenue:
2009: Group R1 184,3 million
2008: The businesses were acquired on the first day of the financial year.

Pro-forma net profit:
2009: Group R68,5 million
2008: The businesses were acquired on the first day of the financial year.

 Group Company

Figures in Rand thousand 2009 2008 2009 2008

32. COMMITMENTS
Authorised capital expenditure

Already contracted for but not provided for
• Plant and equipment – 42 000 – –
Not yet contracted for and authorised by directors 18 186 – – –

The group has an outstanding capital commitment of R Nil 
(2008: R42,0 million). R Nil (2008: R39,0 million) relates to 
the roof-tile plant at West End Claybrick. R Nil 
(2008: R37,0 million) will be funded from the pre-approved 
facility provided by Wesbank and the balance of R Nil 
(2008: R2,0 million) from internal resources.

Operating leases – as lessee (expense)    

Minimum lease payments due    
– within one year 5 150 160 – –
– in second to fifth year inclusive 12 575 445 – –

 17 725 605 – –

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the group. No contingent rent is payable.
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33. CONTINGENCIES
The group has issued the following performance bonds:

– Lombards Insurance: R244,9 million (2008: R Nil) for 93 (2008: Nil) bonds.
– Standard Bank: R26,6 million (2008: R Nil) for 12 (2008: Nil) bonds.

The group has issued letters of intent to the value of R3,5 million (2008: R Nil).

34. RELATED PARTIES
Relationships
Subsidiaries Refer to note 6
Company controlled by directors of subsidiary Consolidated Power Properties 
 (Proprietary) Limited
Members of key management RD Gamsu
 IM Klitzner
 J Hooman
 IM Hambridge
 HPS Mashaba
 PH Spies
 HJ du Preez
 F Aveling
 W Rossouw
 G Ehlers
 H Thomas
 S Michelmore
 B Berelowitz
 H Bossenkool
 S Gesha
 D van Zyl
 L Heymans
 A Richelman
 M Muligan
 R de Villiers

 Group Company

Figures in Rand thousand 2009 2008 2009 2008

Related party transactions
Interest paid to (received from) related parties
Drift Supersand (Proprietary) Limited   (8 146) –
Consolidated Power Projects (Proprietary) Limited   (7 216) –
West End Claybrick (Proprietary) Limited   (19) (3 364)

Rent paid to related party
Consolidated Power Properties (Proprietary) Limited 1 693 – – –

Management fees paid to (received from) 
related parties
Drift Supersand (Proprietary) Limited   – (12 000)
Consolidated Power Projects (Proprietary) Limited   (2 500) –
West End Claybrick (Proprietary) Limited   – (12 000)

Compensation to directors and other key 
management
Short-term employee benefits 16 313 8 989 6 704 3 140

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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35. RISK MANAGEMENT
Capital risk management
The group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the group’s ability to continue as a going concern 
in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital 
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The capital structure of the group consists of debt, which includes the borrowings (excluding derivative financial 
liabilities) disclosed in notes 10, 16, 15, cash and cash equivalents disclosed in note 13, and equity as disclosed in 
the balance sheet.

Consistent with others in the industry, the group monitors capital on the basis of the debt:equity ratio.

This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total equity. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings (including 
‘current and non-current borrowings’ as shown in the balance sheet) less cash and cash equivalents. Total equity 
is represented in the balance sheet.

There are no externally imposed capital requirements.

There have been no changes to what the entity manages as capital, the strategy for capital maintenance or 
externally imposed capital requirements from the previous year.

The debt:equity ratios at 2009 and 2008 respectively were as follows:

 Group Company

Figures in Rand thousand 2009 2008 2009 2008

Total borrowings    
Instalment sale agreements 16 103 299 54 662 – –
Financial liabilities 15 99 819 59 920 55 000 –

  203 118 114 582 55 000 –
Less: Cash and cash equivalents 13 219 970 42 274 4 901 25 440

Net (cash) debt  (16 852) 72 308 50 099 (25 440)
Total equity  762 873 266 364 693 991 226 814

Total capital  746 021 338 672 744 090 201 374

Debt:equity ratio (%)  (2) 27 7 (11)
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35. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Liquidity risk
The group’s risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments. The group manages 
liquidity risk through an ongoing review of future commitments and credit facilities.

The table below analyses the group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining 
period at the balance sheet to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual 
undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of discounting 
is not significant. 

  2nd to
 Within 5th year Over
Figures in Rand thousand 1 year inclusive 5 years

Group
At 31 August 2009
Financial liabilities 60 878 38 941 –
Instalment sale agreements 24 329 78 970 –
Trade and other payables 185 536 – –
Amounts received in advance 49 693 – –
Amounts due to contract customers 242 909 – –
Bank overdraft 6 920 – –

At 31 August 2008   
Financial liabilities 13 708 46 212 –
Instalment sale agreements 11 892 42 770 –
Trade and other payables 20 683 – –

Company   
At 31 August 2009   
Financial liabilities 50 000 5 000 –
Trade and other payables 2 774 – –

At 31 August 2008   
Trade and other payables 902 – –

Interest rate risk   
The group analyses its interest rate exposure on a dynamic basis. Various scenarios are simulated taking into 
consideration refinancing, renewal of existing positions, alternative financing and hedging. Based on these 
scenarios, the group calculates the impact on profit and loss of a defined interest rate shift.

At 31 August 2009, if interest rates on Rand-denominated borrowings had been 1% higher/lower with all other 
variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been R0,1 million (2008: R2,5 million) lower/higher, 
mainly as a result of higher/lower interest expense on floating rate borrowings. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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35. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Credit risk
Credit risk consists mainly of loans to group companies, financial assets, amounts due from contract customers, 
cash deposits, cash equivalents and trade debtors. The company only deposits cash with major banks with high 
quality credit standing and limits exposure to any one counter-party.

Amounts due from contract customers and trade receivables comprise a widespread customer base. Management 
evaluated credit risk relating to customers on an ongoing basis. If customers are independently rated, these ratings 
are used. Otherwise, if there is no independent rating, risk control assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking 
into account its financial position, past experience and other factors. Individual risk limits are set based on internal 
or external ratings in accordance with limits set by the board. The utilisation of credit limits is regularly monitored. 
Sales to retail customers are settled in cash or using major credit cards. Credit guarantee insurance is purchased 
when deemed appropriate. Other receivables are evaluated on a portfolio basis.

Financial assets exposed to credit risk at year-end were as follows:   
   

 Group Company

Figures in Rand thousand 2009 2008 2009 2008

Financial instrument    
Loans to group companies – – 195 964 115 376
Financial assets 1 007 14 036 – –
Amounts due from contract customers 395 168 – – –
Trade and other receivables 49 867 31 245 425 91
Cash and cash equivalents 226 890 42 275 4 901 25 440

36.  FINANCIAL ASSETS BY CATEGORY
The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

    Non-
 Loans and Held to Available financial 
Figures in Rand thousand receivables maturity for sale assets Total

Group – 2009     
Property, plant and equipment – – – 277 966 277 966
Goodwill – – – 482 595 482 595
Intangible assets – – – 51 055 51 055
Financial assets 1 007 – – – 1 007
Deferred tax – – – 2 022 2 022
Inventories – – – 43 175 43 175
Current tax receivable – – – 2 451 2 451
Amounts due from contract customers 395 168 – – – 395 168
Trade and other receivables 49 867 – – 8 197 58 064
Cash and cash equivalents 226 890 – – – 226 890

 672 932 – – 867 461 1 540 393

Group – 2008     
Property, plant and equipment – – – 196 735 196 735
Goodwill – – – 102 423 102 423
Intangible assets – – – 20 656 20 656
Financial assets 14 036 – – – 14 036
Inventories – – – 38 085 38 085
Trade and other receivables 31 246 – – 308 31 554
Cash and cash equivalents 42 274 – – – 42 274

 87 556 – – 358 207 445 763
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36.  FINANCIAL ASSETS BY CATEGORY (continued)
    Non-
 Loans and Held to Available financial 
Figures in Rand thousand receivables maturity for sale assets Total

Company – 2009     
Property, plant and equipment – – – 273 273
Investments in subsidiaries – – – 553 009 553 009
Loans to group companies 195 964 – – – 195 964
Trade and other receivables 425 – – 14 439
Cash and cash equivalents 4 901 – – – 4 901

 201 290 – – 553 296 754 586

Company – 2008     
Property, plant and equipment – – – 394 394
Investments in subsidiaries – – – 90 399 90 399
Loans to group companies 115 376 – – – 115 376
Trade and other receivables 91 – – 16 105
Cash and cash equivalents 25 440 – – – 25 440

 140 907 – – 90 807 231 714

37. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY
The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:   
 
  Fair value  
 Financial through  
 liabilities at profit or Non- 
 amortised loss – held financial 
Figures in Rand thousand cost for trading liabilities Total

Group – 2009    
Financial liabilities 99 819 – – 99 819
Instalment sale agreements 103 299 – – 103 299
Deferred tax – – 27 418 27 418
Provisions – – 8 084 8 084
Current tax payable – – 52 286 52 286
Trade and other payables 185 536 – 1 556 187 092
Amounts received in advance 49 693 – – 49 693
Amounts due to contract customers 242 909 – – 242 909
Bank overdraft 6 920 – – 6 920

 688 176 – 89 344 777 520

Group – 2008    
Financial liabilities 59 920 – – 59 920
Instalment sale agreements 54 662 – – 54 662
Deferred tax – – 11 417 11 417
Provisions – – 8 793 8 793
Current tax payable – – 22 431 22 431
Trade and other payables 20 683 – 1 493 22 176

 135 265 – 44 134 179 399

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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37. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY (continued)
  Fair value  
 Financial through  
 liabilities at profit or Non- 
 amortised loss – held financial 
Figures in Rand thousand cost for trading liabilities Total

Company – 2009    
Financial liabilities 55 000 – – 55 000
Deferred tax – – 20 20
Current tax payable – – 2 635 2 635
Trade and other payables 2 774 – 166 2 940

 57 774 – 2 821 60 595

Company – 2008    
Deferred tax – – 20 20
Current tax payable – – 3 844 3 844
Trade and other payables 902 – 134 1 036

 902 – 3 998 4 900

38. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS
The directors are not aware of any post balance sheet events.

39. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
  Group

Figures in Rand thousand   2009 2008

Revenue  
Heavy building materials  
West End Claybrick 63 323 97 137
Drift Supersand 99 190 104 207

 162 513 201 344

Power 582 811 –
Corporate – –

Total 745 324 201 344

Depreciation, amortisation and impairments
Heavy building materials  
West End Claybrick* 18 470 3 639
Drift Supersand 4 128 3 473

 22 598 7 112

Power 3 824 –
Corporate 15 640 1 139

Total 42 062 8 251

* Impairment loss recognised 13 562 –
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  Group

Figures in Rand thousand   2009 2008

39. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued)
EBITDA  
Heavy building materials  
West End Claybrick   2 163 51 594
Drift Supersand   32 353 35 789

   34 516 87 383

Power   73 724 –
Corporate   (4 389) (4 437)

Total   103 851 82 946

Assets acquired  
Heavy building materials  
West End Claybrick   72 953 22 077
Drift Supersand   3 535 15 844

   76 488 37 921

Power   2 806 –
Corporate   8 446

Total   79 302 38 367

Total assets  
Heavy building materials  
West End Claybrick   206 524 196 281
Drift Supersand   86 305 84 277

   292 829 280 558

Power   492 023 –
Corporate   755 535 165 203

Total   1 540 387 445 761

Liabilities  
Heavy building materials  
West End Claybrick   126 384 93 299
Drift Supersand   59 006 68 822

   185 390 162 121

Power   345 636 –
Corporate   246 492 17 276

Total   777 518 179 397

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING TO MEMBERS

Notice is hereby given that the second annual general meeting of members of Buildworks Group Limited (“Buildworks” 
or “the company”) will be held at 6A Sandown Valley Crescent, Sandown, Sandton on Thursday, 15 April 2010 at 10h00 
with the purposes of transacting the following business, with or without amendment:

1.  To receive, consider and adopt the annual fi nancial statements of the company and the group as at and for its year 
ended on 31 August 2009, together with the reports of the directors and auditors thereon;

2. To confi rm the appointment of B Berelowitz as director of the company;

3.  To elect individually, the undermentioned directors who retire by rotation in terms of article 15.1 of the company’s 
Articles of Association (“articles”), but being eligible, offer themselves for re-election:

 3.1. P Voutyritsas
 3.2. N Mintah and 
 3.3. A Geisser;

4. To authorise the directors to determine the remuneration of the auditors for the past audit;

5. To approve the payment of remuneration to the directors, including fees to non-executive directors;

6. To consider and, if deemed fi t, pass with or without modifi cation, the following special resolution:
 6.1 Special resolution No. 1
   Resolved that the following is substituted for article 13.2 of the company’s articles of association:
   “13.2 The directors shall have the power at any time and from time to time to appoint any person as a director 

either to fi ll a casual vacancy or as an addition to the board, but so that the total number of directors shall not 
at any time exceed a maximum number of 13 directors. Subject to the provisions of article 16.2 any person 
appointed to fi ll a casual vacancy or as an addition to the board, shall retain offi ce only until the next following 
annual general meeting of the company and shall then retire and be eligible for re-election.” 

   The reason for special resolution No. 1 is to increase the maximum number of directors that may be appointed 
to the Buildworks board to allow for additional directors to be appointed in line with recommendations made in 
the King Code.

7. To consider and, if deemed fi t, pass with or without modifi cation, the following ordinary resolution:
 Ordinary resolution No. 1
  Resolved that the authorised but unissued shares in the share capital of the company be placed under the control 

of directors of the company in terms of sections 221 and 222 of the Companies Act, 1973 (Act No 61 of 1973), 
as amended (“the Companies Act”) until the next annual general meeting and the directors be authorised and 
empowered by way of a general authority in terms of section 221 of the Companies Act, to allot and issue any and all 
unissued shares in the authorised share capital of the company at such time or times to such person or persons or 
bodies corporate and upon such terms and conditions as the directors may from time to time in their sole discretion 
determine, subject to the provisions of the Companies Act, the articles and the Listings Requirements of the JSE 
Limited (“Listings Requirements”), provided that the maximum number of ordinary shares which can be issued in 
terms of the authority in the aggregate in any one year shall not exceed 15% (fi fteen per cent) of the issued ordinary 
share capital of the company from time to time; 

8. To consider and, if deemed fi t, pass with or without modifi cation, the following ordinary resolution:
 Ordinary resolution No. 2
  Resolved that the directors of the company be and are hereby authorised by way of a general authority to issue all or 

any of the authorised but unissued ordinary shares in the capital of the company for cash, as and when they in their 
discretion deem fi t, subject to the Listings Requirements, which currently provide, inter alia, that any ordinary shares 
issued in terms of this authority:
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 8.1 Must be of a class already in issue or must be convertible into a class of shares already in issue;
 8.2  This authority shall be valid until the next annual general meeting of the company, provided it shall not extend 

beyond 15 (fi fteen) months from the date the authority is given;
 8.3  After the company has in terms of this authority issued ordinary shares for cash equivalent to 5% (fi ve percent) 

or more of the number of ordinary shares of that class in issue prior to that issue, the company shall publish 
an announcement giving full details of such issue (including the number of ordinary shares issued, the average 
discount to the weighted average trading price of the shares over the 30 (thirty) days prior to the date that the 
price of the issue is so agreed in writing between the company and the party or parties subscribed for the 
ordinary shares and the effects on the issued net asset value per share, earnings per share, headline earnings 
per share, and if applicable, diluted earnings and headline earnings per share);

 8.4  In determining the price at which an issue of ordinary shares may be made in terms of this authority, the 
maximum discount permitted will be 10% (ten per cent) of the weighted average traded price determined over 
the 30 (thirty) business days prior to the date that the price of the issue is agreed between the company and the 
party or parties subscribing for the ordinary shares;

 8.5  Must be issued to public shareholders, and not to related parties, all as defi ned in the Listings Requirements;
 8.6  May not, in aggregate in any one fi nancial year (taking into account the number of ordinary shares that may be 

issued in future as a result of any convertible securities in terms of this authority) exceed 15% (fi fteen percent) 
of:

  8.6.1  The number of ordinary shares of that class in issue on the date in question (including any ordinary 
shares that may be issued in future as a result of any existing convertible securities or options); less

  8.6.2  Any ordinary shares issued during the fi nancial year in question (including the number of any ordinary 
shares that may be issued in future as a result of the issue of any convertible securities or options in 
terms of this authority); plus

  8.6.3  Any ordinary shares of that class to be issued pursuant to a rights issue which has been announced, is 
irrevocable and is fully underwritten; plus

  8.6.4  Any ordinary shares of that class to be issued pursuant to an acquisition that has been announced, is 
irrevocable and is fully underwritten.

In terms of the Listings Requirements, this resolution is subject to at least 75% (seventy fi ve per cent) of the votes cast by 
shareholders present or represented by proxy, at the annual general meeting, being cast in favour thereof.

Voting
On a show of hands, every Buildworks shareholder who (being an individual) is present in person or by proxy at the 
Buildworks annual general meeting or which (being a company or body corporate) is represented thereat by a representative 
appointed under section 188 of the Companies Act, shall have 1 (one) vote, and on a poll, every Buildworks shareholder 
who (being an individual) is present in person or by proxy at the Buildworks annual general meeting or which (being a 
company or body corporate) is represented by proxy at the Buildworks annual general meeting, shall have 1 (one) vote for 
every Buildworks share of which he/it is the holder.

Shares held by a share trust or scheme will not have their votes at the Buildworks annual general meeting taken into 
account.

Proxies
A Buildworks shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the Buildworks annual general meeting may appoint one or more 
persons as its proxy to attend, speak and vote in its stead. A proxy need not also be a shareholder of Buildworks.

A form of proxy is attached for the convenience of certifi cated Buildworks shareholders and own-name dematerialised 
Buildworks shareholders who are unable to attend the Buildworks annual general meeting, but who wish to be represented 
thereat. In order to be valid, duly completed forms of proxy must be received by the Buildworks transfer secretaries, 
Computershare Investor Services (Proprietary) Limited, Ground Floor, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg 2001 (PO Box 
61051, Marshalltown 2107), so as to be received by them by no later than 48 hours before the commencement of the 
meeting.

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING TO MEMBERS
(continued)
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING TO MEMBERS
(continued)

The CSDP or broker, as the case may be, of dematerialised Buildworks shareholders other than with “own-name” 
registration should contact such Buildworks shareholders and advise them of the Buildworks annual general meeting 
pursuant to which such dematerialised Buildworks shareholders must instruct their CSDP or broker, as the case may be, 
as to how they wish to cast their vote at the Buildworks annual general meeting in order for their CSDP or broker, as the 
case may be, to vote in accordance with such instructions. If such dematerialised Buildworks shareholders wish to attend 
the Buildworks annual general meeting in person, they must request their CSDP or broker, as the case may be, to issue 
the necessary letter of representation to them. This must be done in terms of the agreement entered into between the 
dematerialised Buildworks shareholders and the CSDP or broker, as the case may be.

By order of the board
 

Sandra Saunders – Attorney
Company Secretary

Johannesburg 
19 February 2010
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Country of incorporation and domicile  South Africa

Nature of business and principal activities  Turnkey constructor for the electricity supply industry 
and supplier of heavy building materials to the 
construction industry

Directors  RD Gamsu
 IM Klitzner
 HSP Mashaba
 NC Machingawuta – Zimbabwean
 AD Dixon
 P Voutyritsas – Greek
 N Mintah – American
 A Geisser – American
 B Berelowitz

Registered offi ce  6A Sandown Valley Crescent
 Sandown
 Sandton
 2196

Postal address  PO Box 651455
 Benmore
 2010

Auditors  PKF (Jhb) Inc.
 Registered Auditor
 Chartered Accountants (SA)
 Registration Number 1994/001166/21
 Johannesburg

Secretary  Sandra Saunders BA LLB (Wits), Dip Corp. Gov. (RAU)

Company registration number  2007/004935/06
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FORM OF PROXY

Buildworks Group Limited
(Previously Boomerang Trading 35 (Proprietary) Limited)
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number 2007/004935/06)
Share Code: BWK       ISIN: ZAE000110219
(“Buildworks” or “the company”)

FORM OF PROXY FOR THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF THE SHAREHOLDERS OF BUILDWORKS (“BUILDWORKS 
SHAREHOLDERS”), FOR USE BY CERTIFICATED HOLDERS OF BUILDWORKS ORDINARY SHARES AND HOLDERS 
OF DEMATERIALISED BUILDWORKS SHARES WITH “OWN-NAME” REGISTRATION ONLY.

For use by certifi cated holders of Buildworks ordinary shares and holders of dematerialised Buildworks shares with “own 
name” registration at the annual general meeting of the company to be held at 10h00 on 15 April 2010 (“Buildworks 
annual general meeting”) at, 6A Sandown Valley Crescent, Sandown, Sandton. Such persons, being entitled to attend 
and vote at the Buildworks annual general meeting, may appoint one or more persons as his/her proxy to attend, speak 
or vote in his/her stead at the annual general meeting. A proxy need not be a shareholder of the company.

The CSDP or broker, as the case may be, of dematerialised Buildworks shareholders other than those dematerialised 
Buildworks shareholders with “own-name” registration is obliged to contact such dematerialised Buildworks shareholders 
to ascertain how they wish to cast their vote at the Buildworks annual general meeting and thereafter cast their vote in 
accordance with their instructions. If such dematerialised Buildworks shareholders have not been contacted it would be 
advisable for them to contact their CSDP or broker, as the case may be, and furnish them with their instructions. If the 
CSDP or broker, as the case may be, does not obtain instructions from such dematerialised Buildworks shareholders, they 
will be obliged to act in terms of the mandate furnished to them, or if the mandate is silent in this regard, to abstain from 
voting. Such dematerialised Buildworks shareholders other than “own-name” dematerialised Buildworks shareholders 
must not complete this form of proxy and should read note 9 overleaf.

I/We (full names in block letters)

of (address)

Telephone: (work) Telephone: (home)

Being the holder/s of Buildworks ordinary shares, do hereby appoint:

1. or failing him/her,

2. or failing him/her,

3. or failing him/her,

4. the chairman of the Buildworks annual general meeting, as my/our proxy to act for me/us on my/our behalf at the 
annual general meeting as follows: Number of ordinary shares*

 In favour of Against Abstain

1.   To adopt the annual fi nancial statements of the company

2.   To re-elect B Berelowitz as a director of the company

3.   To re-elect P Voutyritsas as a director of the company

4.   To re-elect N Mintah as a director of the company

5.   To re-elect A Geisser as a director of the company

6.    To authorise directors to determine the remuneration of the auditors for 
the past audit

7.    To approve the payment of remuneration to the directors, including fees 
payable to non-executive directors

8.    To pass special resolution No 1 – authorisation to substitute 
article 13.2 of the company’s articles 

9.    To pass ordinary resolution No 1 – authorisation to place the 
authorised but unissued share capital in the control of the directors 
until the next annual general meeting

10.  To pass ordinary resolution No 2 – authorisation for the directors to 
issue ordinary shares of the company for cash

Unless otherwise instructed, my proxy may vote as he/she thinks fi t.
*One vote per share held by a Buildworks shareholder.

Signed at this         day of                                      2010

Signature/s

Assisted by (where applicable)

Please read the notes on the reverse side hereof.
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NOTES TO FORM OF PROXY

1.  A certifi cated Buildworks shareholder may insert the name of a proxy and the names of two substitute proxies of 
such shareholder’s choice in the space/s provided, with or without deleting “the chairman of the Buildworks annual 
general meeting”, but any such deletion must be initialled by the shareholder. The person whose name stands fi rst on 
the form of proxy and who is present at the Buildworks annual general meeting will be entitled to act as proxy to the 
exclusion of those whose names follow.

2.  A certifi cated or dematerialised with “own-name” registration Buildworks shareholder’s instructions to the proxy must 
be indicated by the insertion of the relevant number of votes exercisable by such shareholder in the appropriate box 
provided. Failure to comply with the above will be deemed to authorise the chairman of the Buildworks annual general 
meeting, if he is the authorised proxy, or any other proxy, to vote or abstain from voting at the Buildworks annual 
general meeting as he/she deems fi t in respect of all the Buildworks shareholder’s votes exercisable thereat.

3.  Forms of proxy must be lodged at or posted to the transfer secretaries, Computershare Investor Services (Proprietary) 
Limited, Ground Floor, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg 2001 (PO Box 61051, Marshalltown 2107) (“transfer 
secretaries”) so as to be received by not later than 10:00 on 13 April 2010.

4.  The completion and lodging of this form of proxy will not preclude the relevant Buildworks shareholder from 
attending the Buildworks annual general meeting and speaking and voting in person thereat to the exclusion of any 
proxy appointed in terms hereof, should such certifi cated Buildworks shareholder or “own-name” dematerialised 
shareholder wish to do so.

5.  The chairman of the Buildworks annual general meeting may reject or accept any form of proxy which is completed 
and/or received otherwise than in accordance with these notes, provided that, in respect of acceptances, he is 
satisfi ed as to the manner in which the certifi cated Buildworks shareholder concerned wishes to vote.

6.  Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person signing this form of proxy in a representative capacity 
must be attached to this form of proxy unless previously recorded by the company’s transfer secretaries or waived 
by the chairman of the Buildworks annual general meeting.

7.  Any alteration or correction made to this form of proxy must be initialled by the signatory/ies.

8.  A minor must be assisted by his/her parent or guardian unless the relevant documents establishing his/her capacity 
are produced or have been registered by the transfer secretaries.

9.  Dematerialised Buildworks shareholders, other than those with “own-name” registration, who wish to attend the 
Buildworks annual general meeting or vote by way of proxy, must contact their CSDP or broker, as the case may be, 
who will furnish them with the necessary authority to attend the Buildworks annual general meeting or be represented 
thereat by proxy. This must be done in terms of the custody agreement entered into between such dematerialised 
Buildworks shareholder and his/her CSDP or broker.
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